
Murray Goulburn Co-Operative Co. Limited
59th Annual Report 2009



Murray Goulburn Overview 2009

The Annual General Meeting of Murray Goulburn Co-Operative Co. Limited will be held at 1.30pm on Wednesday 25th November 2009 
in the Members’ Lounge, Moonee Valley Racecourse, McPherson Street, Moonee Ponds.

Registered Office & Principal Place of Business 140 Dawson Street, Brunswick Victoria 3056, ACN 004 277 089, ABN 23 004 277 089

Bankers ANZ Banking Group Limited, BNP Paribas, Commonwealth Bank of Australia, Rabo Australia Limited, Rural Finance 
Corporation of Victoria, The Royal Bank of Scotland, Westpac Banking Corporation

Solicitors Gadens Lawyers, Barbour Arnold & Cousins

Auditor DeloitteTouche Tohmatsu

00 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09

m
illi

on
 li

tr
es

Milk Intake
00 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09

$ 
M

illi
on

s

Sales Revenue
3,000

2,500

2,000

1,500

00 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09

$ 
m

illi
on

s

1,500

1,350

1,200

1,050

900

00 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09

$ 
m

illi
on

s

Domestic Revenue
1,350

1,200

1,050

900

750

600

3,500

4,000

4,500

3,000

2,500

Export Revenue



1

 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 
Sales Revenue 2,406 2,635 2,173 2,027 1,867 

Profit before income Tax (25) 101 26 20 60 

Total Equity 727 759 657 615 575 

Issued Capital 230 214 207 195 178 

Reserves and Retained Earnings 403 445 353 328 317 

Total Assets 1,578 1,790 1,483 1,586 1,405 

Milk Intake ex Suppliers (Million Litres) 3,261 3,250 3,335 3,599 3,548 

Total Export Revenue 1,197 1,437 1,206 1,228 1,118

Primary Production
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Dairyfarmer, Director since 1994, 

Cert. Company Directors (ANU), FAICD, 
Director, Dairy Technical Services Ltd.

Ian W. MacAulay  
Chairman, Dairyfarmer,  

Director since 1991, B. Agr. Sc. FAICD, 
Director, Geoffrey Gardiner Foundation 

Stephen J. O’Rourke  
Managing Director,  

Director since 1993, B. Comm, ACA, 
Director, Dairy Australia Ltd

Grant J. Davies  
Deputy Chairman, Dairyfarmer,  

Director since 2004, 
Chairman, Audit Committee 

Graham N. Munzel  
Dairyfarmer,  

Director since 2008

Donald F. Howard  
Dairyfarmer, Director since 1997,  

Dip. Company Directors (ANU), FAICD, 
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Stephen T. Mills  
Dairyfarmer, Director since 2001, FAICD, 
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Dairyfarmer, Director since 1998,  
Dip. Company Directors (ANU), 
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William J. A. Verboon  
Dairyfarmer,  

Director since 2004 

Ian C. Bird  
Company Secretary,  

B. Bus. ASA
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Dairyfarmer, Director since 2005,  

Advanced Diploma Agr., Chairman, Zone 
Committee, Director, Southern Rural Water

Kenneth W. Jones  
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Advanced Diploma Agr.

Board of Directors
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The 2008/2009 year began with a strong opening price and 

farmer confidence was high, but in late 2008, international dairy 

product prices collapsed so rapidly and severely that the  

Co-operative was forced to reduce the farm-gate milk price.  

The collapse was due to a combination of factors: resistance  

to record prices, an increasing supply of dairy product and at the 

same time demand was severely curtailed by the Global Financial 

Crisis in some markets. These conditions severely impacted on 

the confidence and profitability of the Australian dairy industry, 

Murray Goulburn’s supplier members, and the general dairying 

community.

The reality that the Co-operative sets the benchmark milk price  

in Australia was clearly demonstrated when other dairy companies 

followed suit and reduced prices. It provided a sharp illustration 

that should members abandon their Co-operative future milk 

prices will be as low as competitors can achieve.

The continuing drought conditions particularly in northern irrigation 

districts have reduced milk supply from that region. Despite 

the enormous strain placed on suppliers their adaptability and 

determination has helped maintain a viable industry. We have 

no doubt that this region will continue to make a significant 

contribution to Murray Goulburn and the dairy community.

Murray Goulburn Co-operative field staff and Murray Goulburn 

Trading staff have provided a high level of support to farmers 

helping them to meet the challenge with budget and farm advice, 

fodder and interest free fodder loans.

Despite the difficulties of a global economic meltdown and 

continuing drought, the Co-operative continued to perform well. 

Milk received directly from suppliers for the year was marginally 

increased to more than 3.2 billion litres. 

The domestic market remained resilient with Corporate Brands, 

Food Service and the Devondale division particularly showing 

continued strong growth in sales. The “from our families to your 

families” advertising campaign successfully cemented the image 

of Devondale products as being Australian, healthy and natural.

At the time of the price drop Murray Goulburn Co-operative 

announced that it intended to utilise the strength of the balance 

sheet and make a planned loss to support milk prices for farmers. 

End of year results have recorded a small after tax profit but 

a before tax loss of $25.4m. This follows a record profit in the 

previous year of $101 million. It was pleasing that retained profits 

over the previous two turbulent trading years increased  

by $36.3million.

The share equity scheme was also suspended to assist farmers’ 

cash flow. Despite the decline in conditions the Co-operative 

improved its already strong equity position.

The Co-operative continues to look at options to improve the 

overall returns to farmers. The success of recent acquisitions 

by the Co-operative have been well documented and in spite 

of unsuccessful bids for Dairy Farmers Co-operative market 

milk assets of National Foods, the Co-operative will continue to 

investigate options to grow the business and further improve 

farmer returns.

The board of Murray Goulburn Co-operative discharged its duties 

effectively during the year with governance and strategy activities 

a priority. All committees functioned according to their charters. 

At its Strategy Conference the board adopted a formal strategy 

blueprint which clearly outlines the direction the business intends 

to take. It also decided to seek constitutional changes to alter 

director zones, and to implement a scheme to restrict maximum 

voting powers of shareholders in proportion to milk supply. The 

board determined to seek the appointment of an independent 

director. Subsequent to year end these changes were strongly 

supported at a Special General Meeting. The board has recently 

appointed Mr. Peter Hawkins to the position of special director. 

These changes are designed to strengthen your Co-operative.

There are major challenges ahead for the Co-operative, for our 

members and the whole dairy industry, but we do know that 

there is a solid future for those that are prepared and able to see 

out these difficult times. There is little doubt that the market will 

recover. Your Co-operative will continue to invest and adjust its 

business to adapt to changes and opportunities in the industry. 

External issues such as the proposed CPRS (Carbon Pollution 

Reduction Scheme) and climate change itself, reduced availability 

of water and availability of viable farm land in the south, exchange 

rate, plus quality and consumer issues such as traceability of 

product from the farm will continue to challenge the industry. 

Every effort has and continues to be made to educate politicians 

of the impacts of Government policy on the industry and  

regional communities.

As I retire I urge all our dairy farmers to continue to support the  

Co-operative. There is little doubt that if all farmers supported  

Murray Goulburn with their milk we would all enjoy a milk 

price well above the current farm-gate milk price. Guard the 

Co-operative; it is the only vehicle that will ensure you get the 

opportunity to maximise your returns.

Thank you to all who have supported the Co-operative during 

my eleven years as your Chairman. Without the support of our 

customers, business partners, management and staff and of 

course most importantly members we could not have achieved 

the strength that only a successful Co-operative can give. 

Chairman’s Report 2009
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Mr Ian W. MacAulay 

Chairman



5

Murray Goulburn Co-Operative Co. Limited and Controlled Entities

“Despite the difficulties of a global economic meltdown and continuing drought, the Co-operative continued to perform well. Milk received directly from suppliers for the year was marginally increased to more 
than 3.2 billion litres.” 
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2008/09 was an extremely challenging year for the entire dairy 

industry and one from which Murray Goulburn was not immune.

Expectations at the beginning of the year were that international 

markets would continue to soften during 2008/09 from their 

record peaks of the previous year. However final milk prices, 

although not expected to be as high as the previous year, were 

still expected to reach historically high levels and, indeed, opening 

prices were at a record high.

Markets performed at anticipated levels throughout the first five 

months of the year before an unexpected sudden collapse in 

international prices occurred over a few short weeks in November 

and December. Prices fell 60% during this period.

At this time, particularly influenced by the global financial crisis, 

it was evident that markets would stay depressed over the 

remainder of the financial year.

It was forecast that the impact of the crash and ongoing 

depressed prices was a reduction in revenue below original 

budgeted expectations for the remaining 7 months of the year of 

more than $300 million.

Faced with this market collapse it was necessary to reduce 

the opening milk price paid to suppliers. However in order that 

suppliers not bear the full brunt of the decline, the Co-operative 

made a conscious decision to plan a tactical loss for the year, 

leveraging Murray Goulburn’s strong retained earnings position and 

minimizing the extent to which milk price needed to be reduced.

This planned outcome ensured the Co-operative’s post farm-gate 

operations were protected by ensuring all financial covenants 

would be met and ongoing lender support would be assured.

The decision made in December to reduce the milk price included 

the commitment that if markets recovered, a step-up in milk price 

would be remitted to suppliers and the Co-operative would record 

the loss as planned. Unfortunately, markets did not recover and 

actual results were consistent with the revised forecast.

Suppliers were informed of the reduction in milk price in 

December but the decision was not implemented until February 

to give time for suppliers to make adjustments to their individual 

farming businesses. In addition, an extensive series of farmer 

meetings were convened throughout all supply regions to provide 

a thorough briefing.

Ironically the final milk price to suppliers was the second highest 

on record however for many suppliers high input costs, poor 

seasonal conditions and the unexpected mid year milk price 

reduction put significant strain on their farm businesses.

The introduction of the tactical loss, the reduction in milk price, 

business cost reduction programs, product mix change initiatives 

and the performance of the Co-operative’s domestic businesses 

all helped the Co-operative finish the year with a result as 

forecasted, with suppliers being insulated from the full effects of 

the crash, all lending covenants being achieved and an improved 

balance sheet equity ratio.

 

Milk processed for the year was 3.5 billion compared with 

3.3 billion litres the previous year. This was in spite of drought 

conditions which persisted unabated during the year.

Sales revenue for the year was $2.4 billion, $229M down on the 

previous year directly attributable to the collapse in international 

market prices.

Export sales fell by $240M to $1.2 billion on the back of the 

price collapse with demand remaining relatively strong albeit at 

depressed prices. Domestic business was solid with Devondale, 

Corporate Brands, Food Service, MG Nutritionals and Murray 

Goulburn Trading all contributing positively to the bottom line and 

underscoring the diversity of market risk intrinsic to the enterprise.

Net profit after tax was $1M and represents a pleasing result given 

the difficulties of an international economic meltdown and the 

success of the measures taken by the Co-operative during the year.

Murray Goulburn has recorded a profit every year since 1954 

and the fact that it was profitable again in 2008/09 emphasises 

the importance of the financial strength it has built up over the 

last 20 years whereby it can use this strength to combat adverse 

economic conditions and remain a powerful force to extract value 

from the recovery at the earliest possible opportunity.

Milk price for the year was $8.61 / kg butterfat on a weighted 

average basis. While the mid year price adjustment was a huge 

issue for a majority of suppliers, the final average milk price 

represented the second highest in the Co-operative’s history.

Dividend declared on ordinary shares for the year was 8%. 

Dividends to members, which represent an important element of 

farmer returns, have totalled $170M over the last 10 years and 

have averaged 10.7% p.a.

Total assets were $1.58billion down by $212M compared with the 

previous year largely due to lower inventory and debtor balances 

at year end. The equity ratio improved to 46% as debt reduced 

and balance sheet strength was maintained.

Financial strength is vital for the continued growth of the  

Co-operative and on-farm support for suppliers was of critical 

importance as the effects of the global financial crisis threatened 

to significantly reduce the returns of supplier’s individual 

farming businesses.

...

Operations Review
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Stephen J. O’Rourke 

Managing Director
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“2008
/09 was an extremely 

challenging year for 
 

the entire
 dairy ind

ustry  

and one
 from

 which Murray 

Goulbur
n was not i

mmune.”
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“This planned outcome ensured the Co-operative’s post farm-gate operations were protected by ensuring all financial covenants would be met and ongoing lender support would be assured.”
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More than $70M in interest free and low interest and fodder 

loans were provided during the year and together with trading 

store patronage and loyalty rebates direct financial assistance 

to the Co-operative’s suppliers totalled $75.2M. Further support 

was also provided through fodder programs via MG Agrilink 

and agronomy and field services support which were effectively 

deployed across the organisation.

Capital expenditure approved during the year was $39 million. 

Clearly, given the prevailing economic and market conditions it 

was vital to limit capital spending to essential capacity upgrades, 

efficiency projects, safety, quality and the environment. Murray 

Goulburn’s commitment to prudent capital investment and 

renewal over a sustained period enabled the Co-operative to defer 

aspects of its 2008/09 capital program and thereby provide short 

term cash flow relief during the downturn without creating an 

impairment to operational efficiency or product-mix options.

Capital expenditure was aimed at efficiency, process improvement 

and commercialising of completed research and development 

projects to further improve returns. While the market difficulties 

create the need to implement some short term savings measures, 

the Co-operative’s committed R&D strategy did not abate and 

again delivered important commercial-ready initiatives which are 

expected to assist returns both in the short and long term.

The 2008/2009 year will be remembered for its economic 

turbulence and international market difficulty. Murray Goulburn’s 

strong balance sheet, market diversity and adaptability leaves 

it well placed to respond quickly to economic recovery and 

to continue to meet its key objective of maximizing returns to 

supplier/shareholders. 

Manufacturing
Primary production for the year totalled 746,000 tonnes, 

12% up on the previous year. Product mix settings are aimed 

at maximizing the return for milk solids and meeting market 

demands in the highest quality most cost efficient way possible.

Capital expenditure was directed towards capacity upgrades, 

waste minimisation, environmental improvement, occupational 

health and safety and quality.

Additional manufacturing capacity was commissioned at Cobram 

during the year with the completion of the new mozzarella line.

Major UHT projects were undertaken in this important segment of 

the business with the approval to install an advanced Combibloc 

filling line at Edith Creek which will lift throughput and provide 

operational flexibility across a range of packaging sizes for the 

consumer market.

At Leongatha major conversion works were approved on two 

UHT lines in order to increase manufacturing output and utilise 

updated packaging to meet market demand. A major project for 

additional steam production at Koroit was aimed at increasing the 

production capacity of the plant overall and improving the reliability 

of operation at the Co-operative’s largest single milk processing 

site. This project together with the installation of a heat recovery 

system on powder plants at Koroit will serve to grow capacity 

while at the same time improve energy efficiency.

Murray Goulburn’s focus on best practice environmental 

outcomes is part of the Co-operative’s continual improvement 

ethic. The harvesting of methane from the waste water treatment 

plant at Leongatha for conversion into electricity using a biogas 

generator represents an exciting initiative which is designed to 

reduce the factory’s use of electricity from the grid and replace it 

with a low-emission alternative.

Adapting manufacturing practices in a carbon constrained 

economy presents challenges across the industrial sector. 

The Co-operative is well advanced in assimilating emerging 

opportunities with its well established track record of 

environmental stewardship which has pioneered key emissions 

and waste water management techniques in the dairy industry.

Occupational Health and Safety represents a key accountability 

throughout the organisation and during the year safety systems 

were forensically reviewed and additional resource were deployed 

to take the safety culture of the Co-operative to well beyond a 

basic compliance level. This committed approach was undertaken 

notwithstanding a trend reduction during the period in lost  

time injuries. 

Operations Review
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“Adapting  manufacturing practices  
in a carbon constrained  

economy presents challenges  

across the industrial sector.  

The Co-operative is well advanced  

in assimilating emerging opportunities 

with its well established track record 

of environmental stewardship which 

has pioneered key emissions and 

waste water management techniques  

in the dairy industry.”
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Quality Assurance
During the year, the Company consolidated its position with 

respect to the BRC Global Standard for Food Safety, and work 

was initiated at our Maffra site to the move from ISO22000 to the 

BRC standard. 

The BRC Global Standard for Food Safety has developed into 

one of the most important food safety standard worldwide. The 

standard has been updated at regular intervals to reflect the latest 

in food safety and has been adopted worldwide as a framework to 

assist manufacturers in the production of safe, high quality food.

In Australia, Coles has selected the BRC Standard as one of its 

approved QA system options required for companies supplying 

Coles’ own brand products. In more recent times, Aldi Stores 

are transitioning their supplier audits to the globally recognised 

GFSI (Global Food Safety Initiative) standard which encompasses 

the BRC Global Standard for Food Safety. Adoption of the BRC 

standard by MG will help maintain the Co-operative’s reputation 

for safe, high quality products into the future.

A critical component of the Co-operative’s QA systems is product 

testing and analysis, and this area of the business is continually 

evolving to take advantage of new technologies which provide the 

capability for more timely feedback, greater efficiencies and better 

process control.

In addition to increased reliance on automated and / or rapid test 

methods internally, MG has also worked closely with DTS Food 

Laboratories to improve efficiencies in testing via a combination  

of calculated outsourcing and stream lining the sample 

presentation interface.

The functionality of QA information systems is essential in 

the quality assurance task and during the year information 

management systems were upgraded to provide better utility and 

improved performance in quality control and food safety assurance. 

Logistics
Storage and Distribution in 2008/09 delivered a supply chain cost 

above the previous reporting period. This was in an environment 

of increased stock holdings due to the Global Financial Crisis 

resulting in additional external storage and transport, an increased 

volume distributed to the domestic market and increased 

operational costs notably fuel and labour.

There has been continued consolidation in the transport and 

warehousing industry and this necessitated a number of supply 

chain partner changes during the year. Customer satisfaction 

standards have remained at high levels during transport and 

warehouse transitions.

Continued focus on the development and implementation of 

quality systems has delivered positive results in relation to ISO 

9001:2000 accreditation. HACCP accreditation continued to 

deliver food safety awareness and processes for operational staff, 

ensuring Murray Goulburn’s food safety standards are maintained 

at the highest levels.

Robust information systems continue to be developed to meet 

ever changing customer and internal management requirements. 

The supply chain team continued to provide innovative solutions 

with system enhancements to better control the end-to-end 

process with outcomes and deliverables to meet Customer demands.

In October 2008, Murray Goulburn was awarded the prestigious 

Supply Chain and Logistics Association of Australia Award for 

Manufacturing Logistics. This award was in recognition of the 

innovation and successful implementation of the high density 

storage system at the Integrated Logistics Centre located at 

Laverton, Victoria.

The Logistics Team continued to progress the supply chain 

continuous improvement program in regards to mass 

management accreditation with sub-contractors. A supply chain 

contract with Toll Tasmania has resulted in the purchase of 70 

curtain-sided shipping containers in Devondale livery. These 

containers provide high productivity with innovative design to 

minimise handling of products from Edith Creek to Melbourne 

warehouses. The commissioning of drive-thru refrigerated 

B-Doubles and drop deck trailers from Victorian manufacturing 

facilities to centralised distribution centres has delivered continued 

benefits for the supply chain.

On-Road compliance to Chain of Responsibility was again a 

major focus of the Logistics Team. Driver fatigue management 

across both MG employees and sub-contracted transport 

companies delivered further challenges and MG is held in high 

regard with innovative internet based reporting systems to monitor 

compliance aligned with in-field audits via independent industry 

consultants to maximize safety outcomes. 

Operations Review
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“Adoption of the BRC standard 
by MG will help maintain the  
Co-operative’s reputation  

for safe, high quality products 
into the future.”
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“Markets performed  

at anticipated levels throughout  

the first five months of the year 

before an unexpected sudden 

collapse in international prices 

occurred over a few short weeks  

in November and December.  

Prices fell 60% during this period.”

* Source Data Dairy Australia Ltd
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Research & Development
Research and development leading to new and improved 

products, improved manufacturing efficiencies and improved final 

product consistency is of vital importance for Murray Goulburn to 

remain a leading global dairy company.

The effect of the Global Financial Crisis on dairy commodity prices 

has served to highlight the importance of developing value added 

products that can shield against downturns in the commodities 

market and consistently return a premium.

Excellent progress has been made in the development of new 

processes for the manufacture of a range of specialised milk 

protein ingredients. These new processes are aimed at further 

adding value to the milk solids and will be commercialised at 

Leongatha. The finished product will find application in  

advanced nutritional applications including infant formula  

and sports nutrition.

Important opportunities were identified to introduce further 

process improvements during the year. Working in conjunction 

with all areas of the business, novel modifications were made  

to milk fat, whey powder and milk powder products. This has 

resulted in more efficient processes as well as improved 

products that are better suited to the functional demands  

of our customers’ applications.

With the support of a grant from the Geoffrey Gardiner Dairy 

Foundation, the potential to apply ultrasonic technology during the 

manufacture of dairy products was studied. This new technology 

has been utilised in other food industries to improve membrane 

plant performance, the emulsification of fats and oils and control 

of growth of microbiological organisms.

A noteworthy success during the year was the Co-operative’s 

European customer North Down Dairy Co Ltd being awarded the 

Gold Medal for Best Extra Mature Cheddar Cheese at the 2009 

Nantwich International Cheese Show in the United Kingdom 

for product supplied by Murray Goulburn. This was especially 

gratifying since the product was specifically developed for the UK 

market by Murray Goulburn. A number of other new cheeses were 

also developed for the Japanese market and these are currently 

being commercialised. Following an extensive development 

project, some new procedures were introduced to improve the 

yield of cheddar and related cheeses.

Operations Review
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“Important opportunities were identified to introduce further process improvements during the year.”

“The effect of  

the Global Financial Crisis  

on dairy commodity prices has 

served to highlight the importance 

of developing value added products 

that can shield against downturns 

in the commodities market and 

consistently return a premium.”
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Ingredients
Total sales of ingredients for the year were $1.1 Billion comprising 

$211 million in Australian ingredients and $953 million in Export 

ingredients. These results were respectively 34% and 18% less 

than the previous year because of reduced market prices across 

all product lines. Sales volumes totalled 388,000 tonnes an increase 

of 12% over the previous year.

The Co-operative started the year with relative high prices in place. 

Demand however was beginning to suffer in response to the record 

high prices achieved in the previous financial year. From 1 July 2009 

global trade experienced the introduction of a new sales channel 

for full cream milk powder based on an internet auction platform. 

This platform took sometime to be bed down and was a new 

dynamic for both customers and competitors to fully comprehend 

and get accustomed to. The mechanistic approach of the 

platform was evident in a falling market with prices of full cream 

milk powder consistently decreasing by 15% per month for most 

of the 2nd half of 2008.

With demand waning and supply growing we started to experience 

strong downward price pressures. This downward pressure 

accelerated from around November 2008 onwards following the 

full impact of the global financial crisis which further deteriorated 

the demand side. Prices crashed back to 20 year average prices 

early in 2009. 

During the final months of the season some clear signs of modest 

but pleasing price recovery began to emerge.

During these difficult market conditions the drive to maximise 

efficiency and create greater value continued with increased 

intensity. Murray Goulburn further consolidated its business 

around value-add markets and value-add products and also 

continued the drive for supply chain efficiencies by focusing on 

rationalisation of the product range to reduce complexity and to 

eliminate under performing products. These on going activities 

continue to yield year on year improvements to the overall 

performance of the Company.

On the global scene, in Europe export subsidies were reactivated 

for all dairy commodities to the usual destinations in January 2009 

(in full compliance with the EU’s WTO commitments). Since the 

reintroduction, the rate of subsidies remained mostly unchanged.

EU milk production did not increase as a result of the various quota 

increases. In 2008/09 quota year (ending March 31 2009), total 

milk production was estimated at 4.2% below the overall quota.

However, in the first month of the 2009/10 milk year, EU milk 

deliveries increased by 1.6% compared to April 2008. EU milk 

deliveries continued to increase in May, up by 0.8% when 

compared to May 2008. The largest year-on-year percentage 

increase in 2009/10 was seen in June, up 2.5% when compared 

to June 2008.

Intervention stores opened on 1 March after being closed for 

the winter and in the first three days, the 30,000 tonne limit on 

butter intervention was reached. It took until 14 April to reach the 

109,000 tonne limit on SMP intervention.

By year end 185,000 tonnes of SMP had been offered and accepted 

for intervention. Butter intervention stood at 77,000 tonnes.

Intervention stores were to remain open beyond the end of August 

as an ‘emergency’ measure, to the end of November, with the 

intention to extend this all the year round in 2009/10 once the 

Council and Parliament have given their opinions.  

In USA surplus non fat dry milk is continuing to clear to the CCC 

support program; albeit at a slower pace. Since October 2008 

the USDA has purchased 125,000 tonnes of surplus SMP.  Of this 

amount 90,000 tonnes remains committed to domestic feed and 

food programs.

On 22 May, 2009, the U.S. Department of Agriculture announced 

the reintroduction of the Dairy Export Incentive Program (DEIP), 

the first announced allocations since 2006/07. The total 

announced allocation was 68,201 tonnes of nonfat dry milk; 

21,097 tonnes of butterfat; 3,030 tonnes of cheese, the maximum 

allowable yearly allocation levels consistent with World Trade 

Organization obligations. 

In New Zealand Milk production for the 2008/09 marketing 

season reached 15.4 billion litres, an increase of more than 4% on 

2007/08, but was considerably lower than early estimates of up to 

a 9% increase.

Milk production expanded across the Southern Cone in the first 

part of 2008/09. However, production growth was tempered 

in the second half of the year by lower milk prices and some 

unfavourable weather in certain parts of the region.
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“Total sales of ingredients  
for the year were  

$1.1 Billion comprising  
$211 million in Australian 

ingredients and $953 million  
in Export ingredients.”
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MG Nutritionals
In comparison with the previous year in which dairy commodity 

prices were at an all time high, the prices in 2008/09 collapsed 

to below typical historic levels. In the case of MG Nutritionals’ 

NatraPro range of proteins (Casein, Caseinates and MPC’s) 

however, the relative returns were superior to commodity 

powders. Towards the end of the year, worldwide demand for 

casein and caseinates softened markedly. In the case of NatraPro 

Milk Protein Concentrates, customers valued their unique and 

superior functional attributes in their formulations and demand 

and pricing continued to be firm.

MG Nutritionals continued to experience increasing demand for 

its infant nutrition range of products with significant new business 

being established during the year. Overall a strong financial 

performance was recorded relative to dairy commodities. To 

cope with the increased demand, manufacturing capacity of MG 

Nutritionals Cobram plant was increased by de-bottlenecking 

critical operations, including the spray drier.

It was especially pleasing to see the steady growth in Murray 

Goulburn’s own brand infant nutrition range in China.  

MG Nutritionals Cobram manufactures and supplies a range of  

six different specialised powdered formulae designed for infants 

from birth to 6 months, 6 months to 1 year and 1 year to 3 years. 

The bulk product from MGN Cobram is packaged into retail 

cans and sachets at MG China’s Qingdao plant, and marketed 

throughout China.

MG Nutritionals retail products ASCEND Proven Sports Proteins 

and Proform Formulated Meal Replacer range, experienced 

very strong growth during the year. This was a result of targeted 

advertising and promotion, expanding channels to market 

throughout Australia and product innovation. The introduction 

of White Chocolate flavour and individual serve sachets into the 

Proform range, were very well received by customers. The launch 

of high protein ASCEND Muscle and ASCEND Recovery bars 

have also proved a great success with elite and serious athletes. 

It was very pleasing to see the success of ASCEND sponsored 

elite athletes. This included the South Dragons basketball team 

winning the Grand Final of the NBL, Lisa Weightman retaining the 

National Cross Country Championship and Joe Gamble winning 

the European Three Quarter Iron Man competition. Four athletes 

in the Australian Olympic team participating in Beijing were also 

using ASCEND products for their protein supplementation. 

The decision was made to sponsor the 2008 AFL Premiers, 

Hawthorn Football Club, to take advantage of the relationship 

that had developed over the past three years while they had been 

using some of the ASCEND Elite products to compliment other 

nutritional supplements.

Progenex Australia Pty Ltd made excellent progress in USA and 

enjoyed increased publicity and sales. Progenex is increasingly 

focusing on the broader sports market and is getting strong 

support from a wide range of elite athletes.

MG Nutritionals ingredient range, including NatraLife Bovine 

Colostrum, NatraFerrin Bovine Lactoferrin and NatraCal Milk 

Minerals range all continued to enjoy strong demand and 

stable returns during 2008. In the case of lactoferrin, serious 

contamination issues experienced by some other global suppliers 

created opportunities for NatraFerrin with significant sales being 

made to several new customers.

MG Nutritionals continued to invest in research to augment its 

growing portfolio of intellectual property. A four-year co-investment 

with the Victorian Government to discover new functional dairy 

proteins has resulted in the discovery of a protein called “RIPTAC” 

(Regeneration Inducing Peptide for Tissues and Cells) which 

has considerable potential to treat diseases of ageing relating 

to muscle and bone health. Following outstanding results in 

animal trials, MG Nutritionals has moved RIPTAC into a clinical 

development program.

MG Nutritionals also partnered with the Federal Government to 

develop a new process to manufacture galacto-oligosaccharides 

(GOS). GOS is used as a health ingredient in infant formula and 

other foods and adds considerable value to the raw material, 

lactose. The project will enable MG Nutritionals to manufacture 

GOS using the CSEP ion exchange facility at Cobram.

Another notable success was MG Nutritionals involvement in a 

successful bid for a Co-operative Research Centre (CRC) grant for 

Oral Health, led by The University of Melbourne. Other commercial 

partners in the new CRC include Cadbury Enterprises Pty Ltd, GC 

Australasia Dental Pty Ltd, CSL Limited and Colgate Palmolive Pty 

Ltd. The CRC program provides a unique opportunity to align MG 

Nutritionals ingredient developments with co-member Companies 

strengths in marketing of both retail and professional oral health 

care products.

MG Nutritionals continued to invest in a range of health platforms, 

including metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular health, bone 

health, oral health, sports nutrition and anti-microbials. Throughout 

the year, the division maintained research projects with a wide 

range of Australia’s leading research institutions, including CSIRO, 

DPI-VIC, Deakin University, Barwon Health, the University of 

Sydney, The University of Melbourne, Victoria University, the 

University of South Australia, and Adelaide University.  
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“MG Nutritionals continued  

to experience increasing demand 

for its infant nutrition range  

of products with significant  

new business being established 

during the year.”
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Domestic
During the 2008/09 year total product sales for the Branded, 

Corporate Brands, Food Service, Kiewa and Contract Pack Business 

Units across Australia reached $755 million a growth of 22.6 % 

with strong sales growth across all major categories and divisions. 

Devondale
The year saw further strong sales growth in Devondale sales with 

overall growth for the brand at 17.0 %. Growth was achieved 

in both volume and value and ex-factory sales exceeded $223 

million for the full year. Devondale remains the market leading 

brand in both long life milk and dairy blends and grew its share 

of the Natural Cut Cheese category, whilst the Liddells brand 

continued to perform well and remains the market leading brand 

in lactose-free long life milk.

The major advertising initiative for the year was the on-going 

use of the Devondale farmer family marketing campaign. Using 

the talents of our own farmer families the Devondale campaign 

was used across television, magazines and outdoor advertising 

media. The overall strategy is to highlight the major difference 

between Murray Goulburn’s business and most other major dairy 

brands and to create empathy with consumer’s families using the 

advertising line “From our Families to your Families”. To ensure  

we are directing consumers towards products, during the year  

the “Farmer Family” advertisement was merged with the 

Devondale long life milk commercial into one overall television 

campaign to build further recognition of the Devondale “farmer 

family” ownership, with the products we make and sell.

Other marketing initiatives during the year included:

• The launch of Devondale Smart Omega 3 milk

• The extension of the recently introduced Moo Zoo range  

 of children’s cheese into two new variants; Party Bites  

 and Moo Cheese Bites

• The launch of a new Liddells Lactose Free website, and the 

 involvement in a number of doctors’ expos in capital cities

• On-going advertising campaigns using both television and 

 outdoor advertising for Devondale Milk, Cheese and  

 Dairy Blends ranges. 

Food Service
The Food Service division achieved sales growth in a very 

competitive market, with value sales growing 9.4% to $95 million 

and growth across most major categories. The division this year 

received the 2008 runners up Supplier of the Year Award in the 

Chilled section from the Countrywide National Supplier Network. 

Sales within the Specialty Cheese category continued to grow  

and the division has further growth plans in this category in  

the New Year. This will complement the existing range. 

Corporate Brands
This division achieved a strong sales growth of 25% over the  

full year, with sales reaching $363 million. Murray Goulburn’s 

market share of supply to retail customer brands continues to 

grow and, as retailers are increasingly following a growth strategy 

in this area, it remains an important part of our overall offering  

to our retail partners. 
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“During the 2008
/09 year  

total produc
t sales for t

he Branded, 

Corporate Brands, Food S
ervice, Kiewa 

and Contra
ct Pack Business Units 

across Australia reached $755 m
illion 

a growth of 
22.6 %

 with strong
 sales 

growth across all major c
ategories  

and div
isions. “

“The major advertising initiative for the year was the on-going use of the Devondale farmer family 
marketing campaign.”

“Murray Goulburn’s market 
share of supply to 

retail customer brands 
continues to grow...”
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Information and Communication
Technology (ICT)
The fundamental aim of the Information and Communication 

Technology Department is to provide relevant, reliable and current 

technology based services to support all Murray Goulburn’s business 

operations. During the last financial year this background activity 

saw completion of more than 200 projects.

With continual advances in technology, ICT adopts the 

appropriate developments, in both information processing and 

data communication, to correlate with the Company’s diverse 

business operations. Results of a recent internal survey show a 

steady expansion in Company use of these services, with most 

Murray Goulburn business operations now reliant on them.  

These technologies have assisted operational efficiencies and 

enabled cost reductions to be achieved in many operational areas 

together with significant improvements in management reporting 

and communications.

The Enterprise Resource Planning system (SAP) continues 

to expand with a wide range of increased capabilities utilised 

in financial, operational and logistics in accordance with the 

Company strategic plan of consolidating computer based 

applications into SAP. This has resulted in most recently 

incorporating the Company payroll system and supplier loans. 

Other significant changes are the commencement of a new 

Trading Stores Point-of-Sale system, migrating Classic Foods in 

Edith Creek into standard Company systems and integrating the 

‘Shares’ processing into the established Suppliers Pay system.

Communication is a core component of these essential services. 

The network connects all the Company’s Australian sites and 

extends world wide using all media - copper wires through to 

fibre-optic cables. The services encompass all aspects of voice 

and data, ranging from normal fixed and mobile telephony to 

highly specialised data transmissions. Over the last year both 

server hardware and software have been upgraded to provide 

enhanced services to the Company’s users including providing 

extra mobile broadband services for remote workers to access 

the Brunswick systems. This facility, coupled with suitable security 

controls, also enables external software support to be provided, 

which reduces the costs of these expert specialised services.

Present systems are continually refined, consolidated or upgraded 

with new computer based applications installed to gain cost 

reductions, competitive effectiveness or to meet customer and 

supplier needs. Meanwhile the technological environment is changing 

with new technologies constantly emerging and old technologies 

no longer supported or becoming operationally uneconomic.

In response to these challenges ICT has restructured to improve 

its ability to meet these constantly emerging changes and 

conform more closely to contemporary practices.

Currently ICT is focussed on utilising SAP as the core computer 

system to improve management information to facilitate product 

and financial decisions such as Business Intelligence programs. 

ICT is also developing closer links between business and ICT 

operations with the objectives of enhancing farmer and customer 

interfacing systems and processes. 

“With continual advances in 
technology, ICT adopts the 

appropriate developments,  

in both information processing  
and data communication,  

to correlate with the Company’s 

diverse business operations.”

“Present systems are continually refined, consolidated or upgraded...”
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“Murray Goulburn uses 28 field staff  who are Dairy Food Safety Victoria (DFSV) trained and approved on-farm auditors, 9 of whom are approved  by the Dairy Authority of South 
Australia and 1 accredited by  

the NSW Food Authority.”
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Field Services
The Field Services group worked closely with suppliers in a 

year of unprecedented milk price movements. Murray Goulburn 

expanded farm supply in the Fleurieu Peninsula and the Mid North 

regions of South Australia. Field staff made approximately 11,000 

farm visits during the year providing support and guidance on 

supplier finance, milk quality and farm operational issues. Murray 

Goulburn farmers maintained an excellent record for farm milk 

quality with 86.6% of all milk supplied being of premium quality.

MG Milkcare, the Co-operative’s on-farm food safety and quality 

assurance program, continued to be an industry leader. Murray 

Goulburn uses 28 field staff who are Dairy Food Safety Victoria 

(DFSV) trained and approved on-farm auditors, 9 of whom are 

approved by the Dairy Authority of South Australia and 1 accredited 

by the NSW Food Authority.

In January 2009, DFSV approved the MG Milkcare Edition 

3 manual. The new manual was one of the first food safety 

programs to be approved by DFSV to meet the requirements  

of the Food Standards Australia New Zealand standard “Primary 

Production and Processing Standard for Dairy Products (2007)”.

The farm collection of colostrum continued with a marginal 

increase in yield on the previous year. Average colostrum payment 

was $2.30 per litre.

After the successful launch of the new web based MGF@rm 

additional tools were added throughout the year providing 

enhanced value for farmer suppliers. MGF@rm has continued  

to be a popular site for Murray Goulburn suppliers to access vital 

milk supply and financial information. A data collection system 

has been added to the website called “Autofile”. Within Autofile, 

suppliers can download Milkpay Statements, Shareholding 

Information, Finance Statements as well as invoices from  

selected vendors.

During the year, the MG F@rmCare- Environment Program was 

delivered by the field services R&D team, with assistance from 

field services and Murray Goulburn Trading. The program was 

launched in the Maffra and Yarram regions of Gippsland, and the 

North East. The program will expand into the South-West region 

and increase participation across Gippsland and the North during 

2009/10. Its delivery is augmented through the use of MGF@rm 

and the very popular environmental mapping tool, eFarmer.

MG F@rmCare is being developed as Murray Goulburn’s flagship 

compliance program. The program is testing the development of 

evidence-based reporting in the areas of people management and 

food safety through the project “Whole Farm Risk Management” 

funded by the Gardiner Foundation. A major trial commissioned 

just prior to year end is expected to yield a further improvement to 

the extensive range of facilities and services provided to suppliers 

by the Co-operative. 

Trading
Difficult seasonal conditions and high farm input costs 

experienced by our farmers during 2008/09 reflected in the 

Trading stores business.

Revenue for the year was $219 million which was $24 million or 

10% lower than 2007/08. 

Sales to MG suppliers represented just over 66% of the total 

Trading stores business, those MG farmers who supported the 

Trading stores were rewarded with the Murray Goulburn Suppliers 

Loyalty Rewards Rebate which totalled $3.5 million for the year.

The Loyalty Reward was paid in two parts – February 2009 with 

the remainder paid in the new financial year.

MG Agrilink supplied more than 170,000 tonne of grain, fodder 

and alternative feeds such as PKE, DDG, canola meal, DSC syrup 

and almond hulls during the year, which provided a reliable source 

of stock feed for farmers.

The Trading stores did all it could through its bulk buying power to 

minimise some of the major farm input costs such as fertilizer and 

agricultural chemicals which were at record high prices.

A Pasture Seed initiative was introduced for the Autumn planting 

which enabled MG farmers to purchase their pasture seed 

requirements at the best prices.

The Trading Company continues to focus on farm inputs, 

agronomic and nutritional services to help increase yields and 

minimise costs.

The Company closed the Welshpool store during the year; the 

Yarram and Foster stores were able to service these customers 

that were affected by the closure.

Capital expenditure was reduced during the year. In the light of the 

difficult economic conditions including the deferral of approved 

redevelopment plans for the Numurkah and Wonthaggi stores.
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“Sales to MG suppliers 

represented just over 66%  

of the total Trading stores 

business, those MG farmers who 

supported the Trading stores 

were rewarded with the Murray 

Goulburn Suppliers Loyalty 

Rewards Rebate which totalled 

$3.5 million for the year.”
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Your Directors present the following report for the financial year 
ended 30th June, 2009.

Directors 
The directors listed on page 31 each held office as a director of  
the company during or since the end of the financial year except for: 
 LA Jarvis OAM and WH Miles – resigned 26 November 2008 
 KW Jones and GN Munzel – appointed 26 November 2008 
 PJO Hawkins – appointed 9 September 2009

Company Secretary 
IC Bird (B.BUS. ASA), company secretary, joined the company  
in 1990.

Principal Activities 
The principal activities of the consolidated entity constituted by the 
company and the entities it controlled during the year have been: 
•	 The processing of the whole milk of its shareholder  
 suppliers and the manufacture, marketing and distribution  
 of dairy products. 
•	 The operation of retail stores as a service to the suppliers.

No significant change in the nature of these activities occurred 
during the year.

Dividends Paid or Recommended 
The following dividends were paid or recommended during or 
since the financial year end:

$000

a)  In respect of the financial year ended 30th June 2008 as paid  
     or recommended in the 2008 financial report:

Final dividend paid on 27 June 2008

On A and C class preference shares at $0.08  
per share unfranked

2,801

On B class preference shares at $0.05  
per share unfranked  

427

Final dividend paid on 17 October 2008

On ordinary shares at $0.12 per share unfranked    23,163

                 26,391

b)  In respect of the financial year ended 30th June 2009:

Final dividend recommended for payment during  
October 2009

(Dividends declared subsequent to 30 June 2009  
and therefore not recognised)

On ordinary shares at $0.08 per share unfranked    15,646

On A class preference shares at $0.08  
per share unfranked

1,364

On B class preference shares at $0.02  
per share unfranked  

224

On C class preference shares at $0.06  
per share unfranked  

1,099

                 18,333

Review of Operations 
Please refer to the Chairman’s Report and the Review of 
Operations comments.

Future Developments 
Disclosure of information regarding likely developments in the 
operations of the consolidated entity in future financial years 
and the expected results of those operations is likely to result in 
unreasonable prejudice to the consolidated entity. Accordingly, 
this information has not been disclosed in this report.

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs 
No significant change in the state of affairs of the consolidated 
entity occurred during the financial year.

Remuneration 
The remuneration report containing the remuneration of key 
management personnel is provided on pages 32 to 33.

Events Subsequent to Balance Date 
Other than the declaration of dividends detailed in Note 7 
‘Unrecognised Amounts’, no matters or circumstances have 
arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected 
or may significantly affect the operations of the consolidated 
entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
consolidated entity in financial years subsequent to the financial 
year ended 30 June 2009.

Environmental Regulations
The company is a licensee in relation to the operation of its eight 
manufacturing sites pursuant to the Environment Protection Act 
(1970) and its one manufacturing site in Tasmania. Environmental 
programs are maintained across all management sites. These 
systems impact positively on the reduction of environmental 
emissions and product losses. The programs’ objectives are  
for outcomes to exceed the conventional license outcomes.

During the 2008/09 financial year the company emphasised the 
completion of numerous programs. One major program was 
the commissioning of the final stage of the Leongatha treatment 
facility which is now operational taking the waste water to a 99% 
improvement as compared to its original form.

A further $16.9 million capital program is being undertaken at 
Leongatha with the emphasis on capturing waste water streams 
which were originally being disposed of and are now being purified 
and reused within the factory thereby relieving the requirements 
on Leongatha’s town water.

All other sites concentrated their efforts on maintaining existing 
infrastructure with improvements in areas as required in order to 
maintain existing standards.

During the financial year the company experienced no material 
events of non compliance. 

Insurance of Officers 
During the financial year the company paid a premium of $178,695 
to insure the directors and senior managers of the company.  
The liabilities insured include costs and expenses that may be 
incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings that may be 
brought against the officers in their capacity as officers of the 
consolidated entity.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
Our auditors have provided the Board of Directors with a signed 
Independence Declaration in accordance with section 307C of the 
Corporations Act 2001. This declaration is included at page 72 of 
this financial report.

Rounding of Amounts to the Nearest Thousand Dollars 
The company is of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 
98/0100 dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with that Class 
Order amounts in the directors’ report and the financial report 
have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars.

Directors’ Report



Murray Goulburn Co-Operative Co. Limited and Controlled Entities

31

Directors Meetings
Meetings Attended

Director 20 held

Meetings of Committees

Audit
3 held

Finance
4 held

Zone
1 held

Compliance
2 held

Remuneration
1 held

Supplier  
Relations

5 held

IW MacAulay 20 3 4 1 2 1 5 

Yarram 
Chairman

GJ Davies 20 3 4 * 2 * *

Fish Point via Swan Hill
Deputy Chairman

WM Brown 20 2 2 * * * *

Kongwak
2 Audit committee and 2 Finance Committee meetings held whilst a member of the committees

DF Howard 20 * 4 * 2 * 2 

Camperdown
2 Supplier Relations committee meetings held whilst a member of the committee

LA Jarvis OAM 9 1 * * * 1 *

Kergunyah
9 full Board meetings and 1 Audit committee meeting held whilst a member of the Board and committee

KW Jones 11 2 * * * * 3 

Gundowring 
11 full Board meetings, 2 Audit and 3 Supplier Relations committee meetings held whilst a member of the Board and committees

WH Miles 8 * * * * * 2 

Calivil
9 full Board meetings and 2 Supplier Relations committee meetings held whilst a member of the Board and committee

ST Mills 19 1 4 * * * *

Numurkah
1 Audit committee meeting held whilst a member of the committee

GN Munzel 11 * * 1 * * 3 

Gunbower 
11 full Board meetings and 3 Supplier Relations committee meetings held whilst a member of the Board and committee

JP Pye 20 2 * 1 * * 5 

Bessiebelle
2 Audit committee meetings held whilst a member of the committee

JT Vardy 20 * * 1 2 * 5 

Maffra

WJA Verboon 20 * * * * * 5 

Korumburra

PJO Hawkins 0 * * * * * *

South Yarra
Appointed director subsequent to the financial year end

SJ O’Rourke 20 * 4 * * * *

Gisborne
Managing Director

* Not a member of the relevant committee

For qualifications and experience refer to page 2

Full Meetings of  
Directors
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Remuneration report: compensation of key management personnel
The key management personnel of Murray Goulburn Co–operative Co. Limited (consolidated and parent company) including those 
responsible for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the consolidated entity and company during the year were:

  Short Term  Long Term  Post Employment 
 
 

2009

 
Fees and 

Salary 
$

(i) Non 
Monetary

$

(i) Non 
Monetary

$

Retirement 
Benefit

$

 
Super- 

annuation
$

 
 

Total
$

IW MacAulay Chairman, non executive director 128,646 10,000 – 15,018 11,578 165,242 
GJ Davies Deputy chairman, non executive director 71,979 – – 15,018 6,478 93,475 
WM Brown Non executive director 51,458 – – 15,018 4,631 71,107 
DF Howard Non executive director 56,666 – – 15,018 5,100 76,784 
LA Jarvis OAM (ii) Non executive director 20,833 – – – 1,875 22,708 
KW Jones (iii) Non executive director 30,625 – – 15,018 2,756 48,399 
WH Miles (ii) Non executive director 20,833 – – – 1,875 22,708 
ST Mills Non executive director 51,458 – – 15,018 4,631 71,107 
GN Munzel (iii) Non executive director 30,625 – – 15,018 2,756 48,399 
JP Pye Non executive director 51,458 – – 15,018 4,631 71,107 
JT Vardy Non executive director 51,458 – – 15,018 4,631 71,107 
WJA Verboon Non executive director 51,458 – – 15,018 4,631 71,107 
SJ O’Rourke Managing Director 1,421,875 64,135 62,211 – 125,864 1,674,085 
P Kerr Chief Operating Officer 393,192 52,244 9,529 – 35,055 490,020 
N Longstaff General Manager–Retail, Marketing, Sales 280,478 37,293 6,546 – 25,020 349,337 
P Hobman General Manager–MG Nutritionals / R&D 265,392 13,437 5,357 – 23,340 307,526 
M Beniston General Manager–International 

Sales&Marketing
255,931 34,230 4,837 – 22,725 317,723 

D Moffat General Manager–Engineering Technical 
Services

205,533 26,831 4,681 – 18,225 255,270 

Total 3,439,898 238,170 93,161 150,180 305,802 4,227,211 

  Short Term  Long Term  Post Employment 
 
 

2008

 
Fees and 

Salary 
$

(i) Non 
Monetary

$

(i) Non 
Monetary

$

Retirement 
Benefit

$

 
Super- 

annuation
$

 
 

Total
$

IW MacAulay Chairman, non executive director 119,793 10,000 – 13,573 10,781 154,147 
GJ Davies Deputy chairman, non executive director 55,209 – – 13,573 4,969 73,751 
DF Howard Deputy chairman, non executive director 55,209 – – 13,573 4,969 73,751 
WM Brown Non executive director 47,917 – – 13,573 4,313 65,803 
LA Jarvis OAM Non executive director 52,605 – – 13,573 4,734 70,912 
WH Miles Non executive director 47,917 – – 13,573 4,313 65,803 
ST Mills Non executive director 52,605 – – 13,573 4,734 70,912 
JP Pye Non executive director 47,917 – – 13,573 4,313 65,803 
JT Vardy Non executive director 47,917 – – 13,573 4,313 65,803 
WJA Verboon Non executive director 47,917 – – 13,573 4,313 65,803 
SJ O’Rourke Managing Director 1,296,571 156,176 62,013 – 115,965 1,630,725 
P Kerr Chief Operating Officer 380,031 39,776 9,047 – 33,750 462,604 
N Longstaff General Manager–Retail, Marketing, Sales 267,393 41,607 6,299 – 23,925 339,224 
P Hobman General Manager–MG Nutritionals / R&D 251,019 40,485 4,950 – 22,455 318,909 
M Beniston General Manager–International  

Sales & Marketing
237,944 28,666 4,380 – 21,300 292,290 

D Moffat General Manager–Engineering  
Technical Services

190,957 28,072 3,659 – 16,980 239,668 

Total 3,198,921 344,782 90,348 135,730 286,127 4,055,908 

Directors’ Report continued...
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(i) Non monetary compensation includes the increased / decreased value of annual leave entitlements (short term) and long service leave 
entitlements (long term) accrued to employees in respect of leave not taken in the current and prior years. 

Non monetary compensation also includes the provision of a motor vehicle, health insurance and notional interest on an interest free 
loan as disclosed in Note 31(d). 

All key personnel listed above were employed by the company throughout the year ended 30 June 2009 and 30 June 2008 except for:

(ii) LA Jarvis OAM and WH Miles resigned from the Board of Directors on 26 November 2008.

(iii) KW Jones and GN Munzel were appointed to the Board of Directors on 26 November 2008. 

Total short term employee benefits for key management personnel (consolidated and parent) is $3,678,068 (2008: $3,543,703).

Total long term employee benefits for key management personnel (consolidated and parent) is $93,161 (2008: $90,348).

Total post employment employee benefits for key management personnel (consolidated and parent) is $455,982 (2008: $421,857).

In accordance with the company’s constitution, non executive directors must be under the age of 65 years at the time of their election 
or appointment, supply all the milk they produce to Murray Goulburn and hold at least 2,000 ordinary shares in their own name. 
Zone elections for non executive directors are held each three years. Directors must retire from office at the conclusion of each three 
year period but may nominate for further appointment at each subsequent election.

Non executive directors’ compensation consists of an annual fee approved by the members at the Annual General Meeting, amounts 
provided by the company for retirement benefits and superannuation at the statutory rate of 9.0%. The retirement benefit paid is equivalent 
to total emoluments received in the preceding 3 years for more than 10 years continuous board service or pro rata after 6 years continuous 
board service until the full benefit becomes payable. The company provides for retirement benefits on an accrual basis.

The managing director’s compensation is set by the remuneration committee and is fixed. The remuneration committee considers market 
related data and the overall continued performance of the consolidated entity in meeting the co–operative’s objectives when assessing 
the managing director’s salary and other entitlements. The company has not provided financial incentives directly in connection with the 
earnings or shareholder wealth of the consolidated entity or company in the past five years. Given the co–operative is committed, as 
a priority, to supporting supplier members through maximising the price paid for milk received and the provision of other on farm and 
financial services to supplier members, it is considered not appropriate to only measure performance directly against earnings  
and shareholder wealth.

Executives’ compensation is fixed and is assessed against market rates and individual performance and is determined by the Managing 
Director annually. The company has not provided financial incentives directly in connection with the earnings or shareholder wealth of  
the consolidated entity or company in the past five years. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

I.W. MacAulay 
Director

Melbourne, 23 September 2009
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 Consolidated  Company

Note
2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Sales revenue 2 2,405,503 2,634,747 2,186,258 2,393,747

Cost of sales (2,132,165) (2,222,141) (1,938,536) (2,007,011)

Gross profit 273,338 412,606 247,722 386,736

Other income 2 48,142 4,044 55,884 12,632

Share of profit of associates 13 1,107 2,033 –  –  

Distribution expenses (149,024) (121,888) (147,633) (120,507)

Marketing expenses (91,586) (77,509) (85,544) (71,941)

Administration expenses (62,920) (60,394) (49,643) (48,050)

Finance costs 3 (31,419) (34,610) (31,944) (46,861)

Other expenses (13,071) (23,000) (15,474) (24,200)

(Loss) / Profit before income tax (25,433) 101,282 (26,632) 87,809

Income tax benefit / (expense) 4 26,483 (8,099)  26,847  (4,997)

Profit for the year 1,050 93,183 215 82,812

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 794 85,693 215 82,812

Minority interest 256 7,490  –  – 

1,050 93,183 215 82,812

The accompanying Notes form part of these Financial Statements

Income Statement for the Financial Year ended 30 June 2009
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 Consolidated  Company

Note
2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Current Assets

Cash 8,556 4,795 1,373 22 

Receivables 8 344,533 431,779 327,679 419,671 

Inventories 9 486,110 605,058 462,602 579,315 

Other 10 4,307 2,049 4,297 2,049 

Total Current Assets 843,506 1,043,681 795,951 1,001,057 

Non Current Assets

Receivables 8 45,043 47,750 55,248 59,284 

Investments accounted for using the Equity Method 13 9,581 9,144 –  –  

Other Financial Assets 11 566 448 11,524 11,062 

Property, Plant & Equipment 14 658,533 665,951 635,643 643,536 

Intangible Assets 15  10,603  10,603  4,000  4,000 

Other 10  9,697  12,580  9,573 12,568 

Total Non Current Assets 734,023 746,476 715,988 730,450 

Total Assets 1,577,529 1,790,157 1,511,939 1,731,507 

Current Liabilities

Payables 16 205,384 346,712 180,500 311,363 

Borrowings 17 401,960 417,863 401,960 417,863 

Current Tax Payable 18  80  –  –  – 

Provisions 19 35,111 31,988 33,377 30,311 

Total Current Liabilities 642,535 796,563 615,837 759,537 

Non Current Liabilities

Payables 16 7,514 2,027 6,112 1,275 

Borrowings 17 159,107 157,930 260,775 281,006 

Provisions 19 8,400 8,298 8,298 8,198 

Deferred Tax Liabilities 20 32,933 66,815 34,122 68,415 

Total Non Current Liabilities 207,954 235,070 309,307 358,894 

Total Liabilities 850,489 1,031,633 925,144 1,118,431 

Net Assets 727,040 758,524 586,795 613,076 

Equity

Issued Capital 22 230,021 213,666 230,021 213,666 

Reserves 23 160,274 180,083 111,071 130,886 

Retained Earnings 24 242,821 264,961 245,703 268,524 

Parent Entity Interest 633,116 658,710 586,795 613,076 

Minority Interest 25 93,924 99,814 –  –  

Total Equity 727,040 758,524 586,795 613,076 

The accompanying Notes form part of these Financial Statements

       

Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2009
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 Consolidated  Company

Note
2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Gain on property revaluation 23  – 36,775  – 36,237

(Loss) / Gain on cashflow hedges taken to equity 23 (19,918) 21,091 (19,918) 21,091

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations 23 154 (23)  –  – 

Income tax benefit / (expense) on items taken directly to equity 4 5,929 (17,336) 5,975 (17,182)

Net (Expense) / Income recognised directly in equity (13,835) 40,507 (13,943) 40,146

Transfer to income statement on cash flow hedges 23 (4,360) (10,771) (4,360) (10,771)

Income tax on items transferred from equity 4 1,308 3,231 1,308 3,231

Profit for the year 1,050 93,183 215 82,812

Total recognised (Expense) / Income for the year (15,837) 126,150 (16,780) 115,418

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent (16,093) 118,660 (16,780) 115,418

Minority interest 256 7,490  –  – 

(15,837) 126,150 (16,780) 115,418

The accompanying Notes form part of these Financial Statements

Statement of Recognised Income and Expense for the Financial Year ended 30 June 2009
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    Consolidated      Company

Note 2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers 2,571,902 2,555,499 2,341,120 2,287,855

Payments to suppliers and employees (2,448,579) (2,530,278) (2,222,645) (2,266,737)

123,323 25,221 118,475 21,118

Dividends received 1,004 1,615 1,004 1,615

Interest received 3,484 3,603 3,141 3,365

Interest paid (31,205) (34,226) (31,205) (34,226)

Income taxes paid (35) (3,611)  –  (280)

Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities 32b 96,571 (7,398) 91,415 (8,408)

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment (69,189) (74,052) (66,388) (71,780)

Investment in associated company 13 (334) (419) (334) (419)

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant,equipment and vehicles 56,755 1,356 56,721 1,304

Payments for investments in subsidiaries 33 – – (21) –

Net cash (outflow) from investing activities (12,768) (73,115) (10,022) (70,895)

Cash flows from financing activities

Dividends paid (20,255) (27,334) (20,255) (27,334)

Proceeds from the issue of ordinary shares 13,439 6,698 13,439 6,698

Repayment of lease liabilities (503) (716) (503) (716)

Proceeds from borrowings  – 87,050  – 87,050

Repayment of borrowings  (72,723)  –  (72,723)  – 

Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities (80,042) 65,698 (80,042) 65,698

Net increase (decrease) in cash 3,761 (14,815) 1,351 (13,605)

Cash at the beginning of the year 4,795 19,610 22 13,627

Cash at the end of the year 32a 8,556 4,795 1,373 22

The accompanying Notes form part of these Financial Statements

Statement of Cash Flows for the Financial Year ended 30 June 2009
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Note 1    Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

 This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and  
 Interpretations, and complies with other requirements of the law. Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to 
 International Financial Reporting Standards (‘A–IFRS’) which ensure that the company and the consolidated financial statements and 
 accompanying notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’). 
 The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 23 September 2009.
 The financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for the revaluation of certain non current assets and 
 financial instruments. 

 The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($000), unless 
 otherwise indicated, in accordance with ASIC Class Order 98/0100 which does apply to the Company.

 In applying the consolidated entity’s accounting policies, below, management continually evaluates judgments, estimates and 
 assumptions based on experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that may have an impact on the 
 consolidated entity. All judgments, estimates and assumptions made are believed to be reasonable based on the most current set of 
 circumstances available to management. Actual results may differ from the judgments, estimates and assumptions.

a) Principles of Consolidation
 The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all entities controlled by Murray Goulburn Co–Operative  
 Co. Limited (“company”) as at 30 June 2009 and the results of all controlled entities for the year then ended from the date on which  
 the company obtained control. The effects of all transactions between entities in the consolidated entity are eliminated in full.  
 The company and its controlled entities together are referred to in this financial report as the consolidated entity.

 On acquisition, the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at their fair values at the date of   
 acquisition. Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill.  
 If, after reassessment, the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired exceed the cost of acquisition, the deficiency is credited  
 to profit and loss in the period of acquisition.

 The interest of minority shareholders in the equity of controlled entities is shown separately in the consolidated balance sheet. 

b) Income Tax
 Current tax represents income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable profit or loss for the period. Current tax is  
 recognised in the income statement, except when it relates to items credited or debited directly to equity, and is calculated based on  
 tax rates and tax laws current as at reporting date.

 Deferred tax is accounted for using the comprehensive balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences arising 
 from differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax base 
 of those items. Deferred tax is recognised in the income statement except (i) when it relates to items credited or debited directly to 
 equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised directly in equity or (ii) where it relates to items arising from the initial 
 recognition of assets and liabilities, other than as a result of business combinations, which affects neither taxable income or 
 accounting profit. Furthermore, a deferred tax liability is not recognised in relation to taxable temporary differences arising from goodwill.

 Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable amounts will be available against which  
 deductible temporary differences or unused tax losses can be utilised.

 Deferred tax is measured at the rate of income tax expected to apply in the period in which the benefit will be received or the liability  
 will become payable based on applicable tax rates and tax laws.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset as the company / consolidated entity intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities  
 on a net basis.

 The company and its wholly–owned entities are part of a tax–consolidated group. Murray Goulburn Co–operative Co. Limited is the  
 head entity in the tax consolidated group. Tax expense/income, deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities arising from temporary  
 differences of the members of the tax consolidated group are recognised in the separate financial statements of the members of  
 the tax consolidated group using a ‘group allocation’ approach. Under this approach each entity prepares a notional taxable income  
 or loss as if it were a taxpayer in its own right except that distributions made and received, capital gains and losses, gains or losses  
 from intra–group debt forgiveness and similar items arising on transactions within the tax consolidated group are treated as having  
 no tax consequence. The tax expense/income, deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities arising from temporary differences of  
 the members of the tax consolidated group is allocated to each entity with reference to the individual entities notional tax calculation. 

 Current tax liabilities and assets and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and tax credits of the members of the tax  
 consolidated group are recognised by the company (as head entity in the tax consolidated group).

 Due to the existence of a tax funding arrangement between the entities in the tax consolidated group, amounts are recognised  
 as payable to or receivable by the company and each member of the group in relation to the tax contribution amounts paid or  
 payable between the parent entity and the other members of the tax consolidated group in accordance with the arrangement.  
 Further information about the tax funding arrangement is detailed in Note 4 to the financial statements.

 Where the tax contribution amount recognised by each member of the tax–consolidated group for a particular period is different to  
 the aggregate of the current tax liability or asset and any deferred tax asset arising from unused tax losses and tax credits in respect  
 of that period, the difference is recognised as a contribution from (or distribution to) equity participants.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Financial year ended 30 June 2009
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c) Derivative Financial Instruments
 The consolidated entity enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to foreign exchange and 
 interest rate risk, including forward exchange contracts, currency options and interest rate swaps. Further details of derivative 
 financial instruments are disclosed in Note 30.

 Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the time of entering a derivative contract and are subsequently remeasured to fair 
 value at each reporting date. The fair value calculation of derivative financial instruments is measured by using valuation techniques 
 based on observable market prices or rates. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative 
 is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event, the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the 
 nature of the hedge relationship. The consolidated entity designates certain derivatives as either fair value hedges when they hedge 
 the exposure to changes in the fair value of recognised assets, liabilities or firm commitments or cash flow hedges when they hedge 
 exposure to variability in cash flows of highly probable forecast transactions.

 Fair Value Hedge 
 Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in profit or loss together  
 with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that is attributable to the hedged risk. 
 Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedge instrument expires or is sold, terminated, exercised, no longer qualifies for hedge 
 accounting or the consolidated entity revokes the hedge relationship. The adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item 
 arising from the hedged risk is amortised to profit or loss from that date.

 Cash Flow Hedge 
 The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are deferred in 
 equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts deferred in equity are transferred to 
 profit or loss in the period when the hedged item is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
 Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedge instrument expires or is sold, terminated, exercised, no longer qualifies for hedge 
 accounting or the consolidated entity revokes the hedge relationship. At that time, any cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity at that  
 time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction 
 is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was deferred in equity is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

 Changes in the fair value of any derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in profit  
 or loss.

d) Foreign Currencies 
 Foreign currency transactions during the year are converted to Australian currency at the exchange rate ruling at the date of the 
 transaction. Foreign currency monetary items at balance date are translated at the exchange rate ruling at that date. Exchange  
 differences are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they arise except for differences on transactions entered 
 into to hedge certain foreign currency risks – refer Note 1 (c) above.

e) Property, Plant and Equipment 
 Land and buildings are measured at fair value. Plant and equipment are included at cost being the purchase consideration determined 
 as at the date of acquisition plus costs incidental to the acquisition less impairment. The cost of fixed assets constructed within the 
 consolidated entity includes the cost of materials and direct labour. All fixed assets including buildings and capitalised leasehold assets, 
 but excluding freehold land, are depreciated over their estimated useful lives commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use.

 Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of land and buildings is credited to the asset revaluation reserve, except to the 
 extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised as an expense in profit or loss, in which case 
 the increase is credited to the income statement to the extent of the decrease previously charged. A decrease in carrying amount 
 arising on the revaluation of land and buildings is charged as an expense in profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if 
 any, held in the asset revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset.

 When an item of land and buildings is revalued, any accumulated depreciation at the date of the revaluation is eliminated against the 
 gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount of the asset. The amount of the adjustment 
 arising on the restatement or elimination of accumulated depreciation forms part of the increase or decrease in carrying amount.

 The gain or loss on disposal of all fixed assets, including revalued assets, is determined as the difference between the carrying 
 amount of the asset at the time of disposal and the proceeds of disposal, and is included in the income statement of the group in 
 the year of disposal. Any realised revaluation increment relating to the disposed asset which is included in the asset revaluation 
 reserve is transferred to retained earnings.

f) Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment
 Depreciation is calculated on a reducing balance basis to write off the net cost or revalued amount of each item of property, plant  
 and equipment (excluding land) over its expected useful life to the consolidated entity.

 The expected useful lives are as follows:

 Buildings 30 to 40 years Vehicles 3 to 8 years

 Plant and Equipment 5 to 15 years Tankers 10 to 20 years
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Note 1    Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
 
g) Impairment of Assets
 The carrying amount of assets is reviewed each balance date to identify any impairment loss. Assets are written down to recoverable 
 amount where the carrying value of the asset exceeds the recoverable amount, by reference to cash–generating units. The recoverable  
 amount is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
 are discounted to their present value using a pre–tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
 money and the risks specific to the asset. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement unless the asset is carried at 
 valuation in which case the impairment loss is recognised as a revaluation decrease to the extent of any previous increase.

h) Financial Assets
 Investments in associated companies are accounted for under the equity method in the consolidated financial statements and the 
 cost method in the company financial statements.

 Trade receivables, loans and other receivables are recorded at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less impairment 
 through the allowance account. The adjustment to employee loans has been capitalised as an asset to the extent that it relates to 
 future employee services.

 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income 
 over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including fees 
 and transaction costs) through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

i) Intangible Assets
 Intangible assets are recorded at cost less impairment. All potential intangible assets acquired in a business combination are  
 identified and recognised separately from goodwill where they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their fair value can be 
 measured reliably.

j) Goods and Services Tax
 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except:

 i. where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case the GST is recognised as part of the  
 cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or

 ii. for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST.

 The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables.  
 Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from investing and 
 financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows.

k) Leased Assets
 Leased assets classified as finance leases are capitalised as fixed assets. A finance lease effectively transfers from the lessor to the  
 lessee substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the leased asset. The amount initially brought to account 
 is the fair value or, if lower, the present value of minimum lease payments. Capitalised leased assets are amortised on a reducing 
 balance basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. Finance lease payments are allocated between interest expense and 
 reduction of lease liability over the term of the lease. The interest expense is determined by applying the interest rate implicit in the 
 lease to the outstanding lease liability at the beginning of each lease payment period.

 Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the periods in which they are incurred, as this represents the pattern of 
 benefits derived from the leased assets.

l) Inventories
 Dairy produce stocks are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour, maturation 
 costs and an allocation of fixed factory overheads.

 Stores, packing materials and Murray Goulburn Trading stocks, have been valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs 
 have been allocated on the first in first out basis.

 Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less selling, marketing and distribution costs.

m) Goodwill
 Goodwill, representing the excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired, is recognised as 
 an asset and, for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to the cash generating unit to which it relates. Goodwill is tested for 
 impairment annually or where an indicator of impairment is identified. Goodwill is not amortised however, any impairment is 
 recognised immediately in profit or loss.

n) Accounts Payable
 Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the consolidated entity becomes obliged to make future payments 
 resulting from the purchase of goods and services. Payables are initially measured at fair value and subsequent to initial recognition 
 are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense 
 over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the 
 expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.
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o) Provisions
 Provisions are recognised when the consolidated entity has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of economic benefits is 
 probable and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate 
 of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at reporting date. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows  
 estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

p) Employee Benefits
 Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, long service leave and sick 
 leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably.

 Provisions are measured at their nominal values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement where 
 they are expected to be settled within twelve months. Provisions not expected to be settled within twelve months are measured at 
 the present value of the estimated future cash outflows in respect of services provided up to balance date. 

 For defined benefit superannuation plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit method, with 
 actuarial valuations being carried out at each reporting date. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in profit or loss in 
 the year in which they occur.

 Past service cost is recognised immediately to the extent that the benefits are already vested, and otherwise is amortised on a 
 straight–line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested.

 The defined benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation, 
 adjusted for unrecognised past service cost, net of the fair value of the plan assets. Any asset resulting from this calculation is limited 
 to past service cost, plus the present value of available refunds and reductions in future contributions to the plan.

q) Borrowings
 Borrowings are recorded initially at fair value, net of transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, borrowings are measured at 
 amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised amount and the redemption value being recognised in profit and 
 loss over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest rate method. The interest rate swap (Note 8) was de–designated 
 from its fair value hedge relationship with the private placement senior notes (Note 17) in July 2008 with the resulting adjustment to 
 the private placement senior notes being amortised to the profit and loss over the remaining period of the interest rate swap.

r) Borrowing Costs
 Interest expense is recognised using the effective interest rate method. Borrowing costs attributable to qualifying assets are 
 capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.

s) Revenue Recognition
 Revenue from the sale of goods and disposal of assets is recognised when the consolidated entity has transferred to the buyer the 
 significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods. Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective 
 interest method. Dividend revenue is recognised on a receivable basis.

t) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements
 Following are the critical estimates and judgements made by management in the process of applying the consolidated entity’s 
 accounting policies:

 Inventories – the net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated 
 costs to sell. Key assumptions, including the expected selling price, require the use of management judgement and are reviewed 
 semi–annually.

u) Adoption of New and Revised Standards
 In the current year, the consolidated entity adopted all of the new and revised standards and interpretations issued by the Australian  
 Accounting Standards Board effective for the current annual reporting period.

 Except for AASB 8 ‘Operating Segments’, which the consolidated entity has early adopted, Australian Accounting Standards and 
 Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective have not been adopted by the consolidated 
 entity for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2009. As a result of adopting AASB 8, the consolidated entity is not required to 
 present segment information. 

 In particular, the following relevant standards and interpretations were issued but not yet effective: 

 Effective for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2009:

	 •	 AASB	101	‘Presentation	of	Financial	Statements’	(revised	standard);	and 
  AASB 2007–8 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 101’ 
	 •	 AASB	123	‘Borrowings	Costs’	(revised	standard);	and 
  AASB 2007–6 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 123’

 Effective for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 July 2009:

	 •	 AASB	3	‘Business	Combinations’	(revised	standard);	and 
	 •	 AASB	127	‘Consolidated	and	Separate	Financial	Statements’	(revised	standard);	and 
  AASB 2008–3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 127’

 The directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretation in future periods will have no material impact on the  
 financial statements of the consolidated entity or the company. 
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Note 2  Revenue

  Consolidated Company

Note
2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Revenue

Sales revenue 2,405,503 2,634,747 2,186,258 2,393,747

2,405,503 2,634,747 2,186,258 2,393,747

Other Income

Interest received or receivable from :

– wholly controlled entities 31 – – 431 726

– other persons 3,940 4,044 3,597 3,806

Dividends received from other corporations – – 1,004 1,615

Service and management fees receivable 31 – – 6,633 6,485

Gain on sale of non–current assets 44,202 – 44,219 – 

48,142 4,044 55,884 12,632

Sales and other income 2,453,645 2,638,791 2,242,142 2,406,379

Note 3  Profit from Operations before Income Tax Expense has been determined after:

Crediting / charging as gains and losses:

Borrowing Costs

Interest paid or payable to:

– controlled entities 31 – – 525 12,251

– other persons 31,285 34,400 31,285 34,400

– finance charges on finance leases 134 210 134 210

Total borrowing costs expensed 31,419 34,610 31,944 46,861

Depreciation of:

– buildings 7,222 6,380 7,006 6,207

– plant and equipment and vehicles 55,702 55,333 53,867 53,646

14 62,924 61,713 60,873 59,853

Amortisation of:

– leasehold improvements 2 2 1 1

– capitalised leases 493 528 493 528

14 495 530 494 529

Net loss on sale and scrapping of non-current assets – 644 – 637

Write down of inventories to net realisable value 26,071 28,068 26,071 27,036

Rental expense on operating leases 3,173 2,172 2,840 1,843

Research and development expenditure 6,864 8,072 6,864 8,072

Employee benefits (excluding defined benefit expense in Note 27) 185,646 175,011 176,767 166,550

Fair value hedge (gain) on interest rate swap (39) (5,142) (39) (5,142)

Fair value hedge (gain) / loss on private placement senior notes (hedged item) (1,579) 5,142 (1,579) 5,142
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Note 4  Income Tax (Benefit) / Expense

a) Income tax recognised in profit or loss

  Consolidated Company

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Tax (benefit) / expense comprises:

Current tax (benefit) / expense 162 3,600  – 280

Deferred tax (benefit) / expense (26,645) 4,499 (26,847) 4,717

Income tax (benefit) / expense (26,483) 8,099 (26,847) 4,997

The prima facie income tax expense on pre–tax accounting profit 
reconciles to the income tax expense in the financial statements 
as follows:

(Loss) / Profit before income tax expense (25,433) 101,282 (26,632) 87,809

Income tax calculated at the Australian statutory tax rate of 30% (7,630) 30,385 (7,990) 26,343

Dividends as a co–operative (i) (6,948) (8,244) (6,948) (8,244)

Repayment of Rural Finance and State Government loans (9,000) (12,000) (9,000) (12,000)

Sundry items (2,190) (1,503) (2,194) (563)

Overprovision for income tax in prior year (715) (539) (715) (539)

Income tax (benefit) / expense (26,483) 8,099 (26,847) 4,997

(i) A tax deduction is obtained for unfranked dividends paid by the company. This amount does not include the benefit of tax  
deductions for dividends declared but not recognised, as disclosed in Note 7 below (the tax benefit of approximately $5,500,000  
(2008: $6,669,000) at the corporate tax rate of 30% will be recognised in the financial year ending 30 June 2010 (30 June 2009)).
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Note 4  Income Tax (Benefit) / Expense (continued)

Consolidated

2009

Opening
Balance

$000 

Charged 
to Income

$000

Transfer
from Equity
to Income

$000 

Charged 
to Equity

$000 

Acquisitions
/ Disposals

$000 

Closing
Balance

$000 

Gross Deferred Tax Liabilities

Property, plant and equipment (62,607) 2,515 – 98 – (59,994)

Consumables (6,304) (1,487) – – – (7,791)

Cash flow hedges (12,550) – 1,308 5,975 – (5,267)

Other (1,481) 682 – – – (799)

(82,942) 1,710 1,308 6,073 – (73,851)

Gross Deferred Tax Assets

Provisions 12,724 2,290 – – – 15,014

Tax losses 1,885 22,763 – (98) – 24,550

Other 1,518 (118) – (46) – 1,354

16,127 24,935 – (144) – 40,918

Net Deferred Tax Liability (66,815) 26,645 1,308 5,929 – (32,933)

2008

Gross Deferred Tax Liabilities

Property, plant and equipment (54,529) 2,938 – (11,016) – (62,607)

Consumables (4,200) (2,104) – – – (6,304)

Cashflow hedges (9,454) – 3,231 (6,327) – (12,550)

Other (3,490) 2,009 – – – (1,481)

(71,673) 2,843 3,231 (17,343) – (82,942)

Gross Deferred Tax Assets

Provisions 11,860 864 – – – 12,724

Tax losses 11,438 (9,553) – – – 1,885

Other 164 1,347 – 7 – 1,518

23,462 (7,342) – 7 – 16,127

Net Deferred Tax Liability (48,211) (4,499) 3,231 (17,336) – (66,815)
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                         Company

2009

Opening
Balance

$000

Charged to 
Income

$000

Transfer
from Equity
to Income

$000 

Charged 
to Equity

$000

Charged to 
Subsidiary (i)

$000

Acquisitions
/ Disposals

$000 

Closing
Balance

$000 

Gross Deferred Tax Liabilities

Property, plant and equipment (63,240) 2,643 – 54 – – (60,543)

Consumables (6,304) (1,487) – – – – (7,791)

Cash flow hedges (12,550) – 1,308 5,975 – – (5,267)

Other (1,480) 682 – – – – (798)

(83,574) 1,838 1,308 6,029 – – (74,399)

Gross Deferred Tax Assets

Provisions 11,810 2,568 – – – – 14,378

Tax losses 1,885 22,556 – (54) 163 – 24,550

Other 1,464 (115) – – – – 1,349

15,159 25,009 – (54) 163 – 40,277

Net Deferred Tax Liability (68,415) 26,847 1,308 5,975 163 – (34,122)

2008 

Gross Deferred Tax Liabilities

Property, plant and equipment (54,330) 1,945 – (10,855) – – (63,240)

Consumables (4,200) (2,104) – – – – (6,304)

Cash flow hedges (9,454) – 3,231 (6,327) – – (12,550)

Other (3,489) 2,009 – – – – (1,480)

(71,473) 1,850 3,231 (17,182) – – (83,574)

Gross Deferred Tax Assets

Provisions 11,348 462 – – – – 11,810

Tax losses 11,438 (8,381) – – (1,172) – 1,885

Other 112 1,352 – – – – 1,464

22,898 (6,567) – – (1,172) – 15,159

Net Deferred Tax Liability (48,575) (4,717) 3,231 (17,182) (1,172) – (68,415)
            
(i) The tax expense associated with the utilisation of tax losses by another member of the tax–consolidated group is charged to the profit 
or loss of the subsidiary.

With the exception of pre tax–consolidation losses of $216,000 ($65,000 tax effected), all available tax losses have been brought to 
account and are included in the net deferred tax liability.       

The company and its wholly–owned entities are part of a tax–consolidated group. The head entity within the tax–consolidated group is 
Murray Goulburn Co–operative Co. Limited. The members of the tax–consolidated group are identified in Note 12.

Entities within the tax–consolidated group have entered into a tax funding arrangement and a tax sharing agreement with the head 
entity. Under the terms of the tax funding arrangement, each of the entities in the tax–consolidated group has agreed to pay a tax 
equivalent payment to or from the head entity, based on the current tax liability or current tax asset of the entity. Such amounts are 
reflected in amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the tax–consolidated group.

The tax sharing agreement entered into between members of the tax–consolidated group provides for the determination of the allocation 
of income tax liabilities between the entities should the head entity default on its tax payment obligations. No amounts have been 
recognised in the financial statements in respect of this agreement as payment of any amounts under the tax sharing agreement is 
considered remote.           
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Note 5  Compensation of Key Management Personnel

Compensation of key management personnel is included in the Remuneration Report within the Directors’ Report. 

Total short term employee benefits for key management personnel (consolidated and parent) is $3,678,068 (2008: $3,543,703). 
Total long term employee benefits for key management personnel (consolidated and parent) is $93,161 (2008: $90,348). 
Total post employment employee benefits for key management personnel (consolidated and parent) is $455,982 (2008: $421,857). 
              

Note 6  Remuneration of Auditors

  Consolidated Company

2009 
$  

2008 
$  

2009 
$  

2008 
$  

Remuneration received by the auditor of the parent entity:

– auditing or reviewing the financial reports 313,000 313,000 313,000 313,000 

– corporate finance services – 33,200 – 33,200 

– assurance related 55,400 20,500 55,400 20,500 

368,400 366,700 368,400 366,700 
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Note 7  Dividends Paid or Proposed

  Consolidated Company

Note
2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Recognised amounts

Dividends in relation to the 2008 financial year (2007 financial year)

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares
Final dividend of 12 cents (2007: 12 cents) per share unfranked 23,163 21,046 23,163 21,046 

Fully Paid A Class Non Cumulative Non–Redeemable Preference Shares
Interim dividend of nil cents (2007: 4 cents) per share unfranked
Final dividend of nil cents (2007: 4 cents) per share unfranked

– 
– 

753 
739 

– 
– 

753 
739 

Fully Paid B Class Non Cumulative Non–Redeemable Preference Shares
Interim dividend of nil cents (2007: 2.5 cents) per share unfranked
Final dividend of nil cents (2007: 2.5 cents) per share unfranked

– 
– 

168 
200 

– 
– 

168 
200 

Fully Paid C Class Non Cumulative Non–Redeemable Preference Shares
Interim dividend of nil cents (2007: 4 cents) per share unfranked
Final dividend of nil cents (2007: 4 cents) per share unfranked

– 
– 

549 
651 

– 
– 

549 
651 

23,163 24,106 23,163 24,106 

Dividends in relation to the 2009 financial year (2008 financial year)

Fully Paid A Class Non Cumulative Non–Redeemable Preference Shares
Final dividend of nil cents (2008: 8 cents) per share unfranked – 1,422 – 1,422 

Fully Paid B Class Non Cumulative Non–Redeemable Preference Shares
Final dividend of nil cents (2008: 5 cents) per share unfranked – 427 – 427 

Fully Paid C Class Non Cumulative Non–Redeemable Preference Shares
Final dividend of nil cents (2008: 8 cents) per share unfranked – 1,379 – 1,379 

– 3,228 – 3,228

Total Dividends recognised 24 23,163 27,334 23,163 27,334 

Dividends recognised during the current year differ to unrecognised amounts in the prior year below due to movements in issued 
capital during the period between the 2008 financial report and the actual payment of the dividend. 

Unrecognised amounts

Dividends in relation to the 2009 financial year (2008 financial year)

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares
Final dividend of 8 cents (2008: 12 cents) per share unfranked 15,646 22,229 15,646 22,229 

Fully Paid A Class Non Cumulative Non–Redeemable Preference Shares
Final dividend of 8 cents (2008: nil cents) per share unfranked 1,364 – 1,364 – 

Fully Paid B Class Non Cumulative Non–Redeemable Preference Shares
Final dividend of 2 cents (2008: nil cents) per share unfranked 224 – 224 – 

Fully Paid C Class Non Cumulative Non–Redeemable Preference Shares
Final dividend of 6 cents (2008: nil cents) per share unfranked 1,099 – 1,099 – 

18,333 22,229 18,333 22,229 
          
The final dividends for Ordinary and A, B and C class preference shares, in respect of the 2009 financial year, were declared by the 
Board subsequent to the financial year end and have therefore not been recognised as a liability at 30 June 2009. The value of the 
unrecognised dividends disclosed above are based on the respective dividend rates declared and the total of shares outstanding at 30 
June 2009 and shares to be issued out of the share allotment reserve. The final value of the unrecognised dividends may change when 
paid dependent on movements in shareholdings between 30 June 2009 and the date of payment. 

Adjusted franking account balance 8,758 8,443 8,033 7,707 
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Note 8  Receivables

  Consolidated Company

Note
2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Current

Trade receivables 262,586 379,953 246,651 367,324

Less : allowance for doubtful debts (849) (851) (535) (614)

261,737 379,102 246,116 366,710

Other receivables 77,395 45,908 76,162 46,192

Interest rate swap (i) 2,089 2,050 2,089 2,050

Foreign currency derivatives (ii) 3,312 4,719 3,312 4,719 

344,533 431,779 327,679 419,671

Non Current

Amounts receivable from a controlled entity – – 10,205 11,534

Other receivables 28 45,043 47,750 45,043 47,750

45,043 47,750 55,248 59,284

(i) The interest rate swap was de–designated from its fair value hedge relationship with the private placement senior notes in July 2008.

(ii) Foreign currency derivatives represent unrealised gains on foreign exchange contracts that are hedges against sales. Unrealised gains 
and losses on foreign currency hedge contracts are deferred in equity or recognised in profit or loss as appropriate. 
Receivables from hedge contracts include options valued at $nil (2008: $359,000) recognised at fair value through the income statement. 

All receivables are recorded at amortised cost except for derivatives at (i) and (ii) which are recorded at fair value. 

Credit risk associated with these receivables is addressed in Note 30(c). The fair value of receivables is documented in Note 30(d).

The consolidated entity reviews the recoverability of receivables by reference to internal credit assessment and historical and ongoing 
customer payment trends. Trade receivables of $849,000 (2008: $851,000) in the consolidated entity and $535,000 (2008: $614,000)  
in the company have been assessed as impaired and fully provided for in the allowance for doubtful debts.    
       

  Consolidated Company

Note
2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts

Balance at the beginning of the year 851 475 614 334

Impairment losses recognised on receivables – 416 – 280

Impairment losses reversed (2) – (79) – 

Amounts written off as uncollectible – (40) – – 

Balance at the end of the year 849 851 535 614

Trade receivables of customers past due but considered recoverable are not provided for in the allowance for doubtful debts.  
The consolidated entity does not hold any collateral over these balances. Ageing of past due but not impaired trade receivables:

0 – 30 days 2,478 3,888 2,478 3,888

30 – 60 days 6,991 8,310 1,914 4,766

60 – 90 days 8,047 4,362 5,226 3,293

90+ days 7,108 3,397 6,792 4,342

24,624 19,957 16,410 16,289
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Note 9  Inventories

 Consolidated Company

Note
2009 
$000 

2008 
$000

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Finished goods

– at cost 244,857 364,411 221,349 338,668

– at net realisable value 188,032 193,833 188,032 193,833

Raw materials and stores – at cost 53,221 46,814 53,221 46,814

486,110 605,058 462,602 579,315

Note 10  Other Assets

Current

Prepayments 4,307 2,049 4,297 2,049 

4,307 2,049 4,297 2,049 

Non Current

Net defined benefit superannuation fund asset 27 – 2,653 – 2,653 

Other 9,697 9,927 9,573 9,915 

9,697 12,580 9,573 12,568 

Note 11  Other Non Current Financial Assets

Investments

Shares in controlled entities at cost 12 – – 5,531 5,509 

Shares in other unquoted corporations at cost (i) 566 448 566 448 

Shares in associates at cost 13 – – 5,427 5,105 

566 448 11,524 11,062 

(i) Shares in other unquoted corporations are recorded at cost as there is no active market and the range of reasonable fair value
estimates is significant and the probabilities of the various estimates cannot be reasonably assessed.
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Note 12  Controlled Entities

All controlled entities, except for Murray Goulburn Investment Ltd, Qingdao Murray Goulburn Dairy Co., Ltd and Provico Pty Ltd are 
wholly owned. 

Control of all voting shares in Murray Goulburn Investment Ltd vests in Murray Goulburn Co–operative Co. Limited.

Murray Goulburn Co–operative Co. Limited holds 51% of all voting shares in Qingdao Murray Goulburn Dairy Co., Ltd and Provico Pty Ltd.

All controlled entities are incorporated in Victoria with the exception of Qingdao which is incorporated in China. 

Murray Goulburn Nominees Pty Ltd and Murray Goulburn Superannuation Pty Ltd are beneficially owned.

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Entity Note
Class of 

Share
Company’s Investment  

at Book Value

Parent Entity: Murray Goulburn Co–operative Co. Limited (a) – – 

Controlled Entities of Murray Goulburn Co–operative Co. Limited:

Murray Goulburn Trading Pty Ltd  (b)(e) Ordinary 2,100 2,100 

Murray Goulburn Investment Limited Ordinary 2,000 2,000 

MG Nutritionals Pty Ltd  (b)(c) Ordinary – – 

Meiji–MGC Dairy Co Pty Ltd  (b)(c) Ordinary – – 

Lavery International Pty Ltd  (b)(c) Ordinary – – 

Classic Food Holdings Pty Ltd  (b)(c) Ordinary – – 

Qingdao Murray Goulburn Dairy Co., Ltd (d) Ordinary 1,409 1,409 

Provico Pty Ltd 33 Ordinary 22 – 

Controlled Entities of Classic Food Holdings Pty Ltd:

Classic Foods Pty Ltd  (b)(c) Ordinary – – 

5,531 5,509 

(a) Murray Goulburn Co–operative Co. Limited is the head entity within the tax–consolidated group.   

(b) These wholly–owned entities are members of the tax–consolidated group.     

(c) These wholly–owned entities are small proprietary companies pursuant to the Corporations Act 2001 and consequently are 
 relieved from the requirement to prepare audited financial reports.      

(d) Qingdao Murray Goulburn Dairy Co., Ltd is incorporated in China.      

(e) This wholly–owned entity has entered into a deed of cross guarantee with Murray Goulburn Co–operative Co. Limited pursuant to 
 ASIC Class Order 98/1418 and is relieved from the requirement to prepare and lodge an audited financial report.  
         

The consolidated income statement of entities which are party to the deed of cross guarantee is:    

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Income Statement

Sales revenue 2,403,220 2,635,410

Cost of sales (2,131,421) (2,222,980)

Gross profit 271,799 412,430

Other income 49,577 6,386

Distribution expenses (149,024) (121,888)

Marketing expenses (90,463) (77,118)

Administration expenses (62,458) (60,051)

Finance costs (31,418) (45,678)

Other expenses (14,224) (23,534)

Profit before income tax (26,211) 90,547

Income tax benefit / (expense)  26,645  (5,962)

Profit for the period 434 84,585

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Financial Year ended 30 June 2009 continued...



Murray Goulburn Co-Operative Co. Limited and Controlled Entities

51

The consolidated balance sheet of entities which are party to the deed of cross guarantee is:    

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Balance Sheet

Current Assets

Cash 7,681 4,669 

Receivables 349,012 435,893 

Inventories 479,452 599,854 

Other 4,297 2,049 

Total Current Assets 840,442 1,042,465 

Non Current Assets

Receivables 55,249 59,284 

Other Financial Assets 9,425 8,964 

Property, Plant & Equipment 641,822 648,522 

Intangible Assets  4,155  4,155 

Other  9,573  12,568 

Total Non Current Assets 720,224 733,493 

Total Assets 1,560,666 1,775,958 

Current Liabilities

Payables 201,611 343,927 

Borrowings 401,960 417,863 

Provisions 35,090 31,988 

Total Current Liabilities 638,661 793,778 

Non Current Liabilities

Payables 6,112 1,275 

Borrowings 256,800 261,898 

Provisions 8,389 8,298 

Deferred Tax Liabilities 33,732 67,676 

Total Non Current Liabilities 305,033 339,147 

Total Liabilities 943,694 1,132,925 

Net Assets 616,972 643,033 

Equity

Issued Capital 230,021 213,666 

Reserves 113,425 133,238 

Retained Earnings (i) 273,526 296,129 

Parent Entity Interest 616,972 643,033 

Minority Interest  –  – 

Total Equity 616,972 643,033 

(i) Movement in Retained Earnings

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 296,129 238,824 

Net profit 434 84,585 

Dividends provided for or paid  (23,163)  (27,334)

Transfer from asset revaluation reserve  126  54 

Balance at the end of the financial year 273,526 296,129 
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Note 13  Investments Accounted for using the Equity Method      

Consolidated Company

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Investments in Associated Companies 9,581 9,144 – – 

Name of Associate Principal activity
 Country of

Incorporation
O

 2009 
wnership 

2008 

Intermix Australia Pty Ltd Food ingredient processing  Australia 33.3% 33.3%

Dairy Technical Services Ltd Dairy analytical and technical services  Australia 31.5% 31.5%

Australian Milk Products Pty Ltd Exporter of dairy products  Australia 50.0% 50.0%

MG Agrilink Pty Ltd Sale of grain  Australia 50.0% 50.0%

MGM (Aust) Pty Ltd Retail of dairy products  Australia 50.0% 50.0%
           
Investments in associated companies are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting. 
The company carrying amount is at cost (refer Note 11).       

        Consolidated

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Movements in Investments in Associated Companies

Equity accounted amount at the beginning of the financial year 9,144 8,307 

Acquisition of interests in associates 334 419

Share of profit after income tax 1,107 2,033

Dividends received from associates (1,004) (1,615)

Equity accounted amount at the end of the financial year 9,581 9,144

The consolidated entity does not share any commitments or contingent liabilities of its associates.  
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Note 14  Property, Plant and Equipment

  Consolidated Company

Note
2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Land and Buildings

Freehold land at fair value (i) 63,213 63,300 62,733 62,820

Buildings at fair value (i) 248,022 238,332 240,829 231,164

less accumulated depreciation (7,219) (1) (7,004) -

240,803 238,331 233,825 231,164

Leasehold Improvements

At cost 287 288 43 43

less accumulated amortisation (232) (230) (4) (3)

55 58 39 40

Total Land and Buildings 304,071 301,689 296,597 294,024

Plant and Equipment

At cost 923,315 882,262 899,448 859,969

less accumulated depreciation (641,647) (595,277) (630,885) (586,079)

Total Plant and Equipment 281,668 286,985 268,563 273,890

Vehicles

At cost 23,335 52,556 23,239 52,097

less accumulated depreciation (16,999) (34,771) (16,933) (34,544)

6,336 17,785 6,306 17,553

Leased Vehicles

Capitalised present value of lease payments 3,558 3,558 3,558 3,558

less accumulated amortisation (1,684) (1,191) (1,684) (1,191)

1,874 2,367 1,874 2,367

Total Vehicles 8,210 20,152 8,180 19,920

Buildings and Plant in the course of construction 64,584 57,125 62,303 55,702

Total Property, Plant and Equipment 658,533 665,951 635,643 643,536
               
(i) Valuations of Land and Buildings          
The basis of valuation of land and buildings is fair value being the market value for existing use of all freehold land and buildings. 
Directors have assessed the carrying value of land and buildings as at 30 June 2009 and are satisfied that it is not materially different 
from its fair value. Revaluations as at 30 June 2008 were based on directors and independent assessments. This is in accordance with 
a policy of revaluing property progressively to ensure that the carrying value of land and buildings does not differ materially from their fair value. 
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Note 14  Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 

Reconciliations           
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of property, plant and equipment are set out below.  

Consolidated

Land and 
Buildings

$000 

Plant and 
Equipment

$000
Vehicles

$000

In course of 
construction

$000
Total
$000

Carrying amount at 1 July 2007 260,630 293,143 24,471 41,127 619,371

Additions (including transfers from capital work in progress) 11,361 43,082 3,683 15,998 74,124

Net revaluations through asset revaluation reserve 36,775 – – – 36,775

Revaluations decrements through the income statement (512) – – – (512)

Disposals (183) (1,043) (338) – (1,564)

Depreciation (6,380) (48,197) (7,136) – (61,713)

Amortisation (2) – (528) – (530)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2008 301,689 286,985 20,152 57,125 665,951

Additions (including transfers from capital work in progress) 10,103 41,704 9,563 7,459 68,829

Disposals (497) (78) (12,253) – (12,828)

Depreciation (7,222) (46,943) (8,759) – (62,924)

Amortisation (2) – (493) – (495)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2009 304,071 281,668 8,210 64,584 658,533

Company

Land and 
Buildings

$000 

Plant and 
Equipment

$000
Vehicles

$000

In course of 
construction

$000
Total
$000

Carrying amount at 1 July 2007 254,050 278,582 24,326 40,888 597,846

Additions (including transfers from capital work in progress) 10,640 42,872 3,525 14,814 71,851

Net revaluations through asset revaluation reserve 36,237 – – – 36,237

Revaluations decrements through the income statement (512) – – – (512)

Disposals (183) (1,002) (319) – (1,504)

Depreciation (6,207) (46,562) (7,084) – (59,853)

Amortisation (1) – (528) – (529)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2008 294,024 273,890 19,920 55,702 643,536

Additions (including transfers from capital work in progress) 10,077 39,818 9,755 6,601 66,251

Disposals (497) (27) (12,253) – (12,777)

Depreciation (7,006) (45,118) (8,749) – (60,873)

Amortisation (1) – (493) – (494)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2009 296,597 268,563 8,180 62,303 635,643
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Note 15  Intangible Assets

Consolidated Company

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Goodwill at cost 5,359 5,359 – – 

Export Quota at cost 1,244 1,244 – – 

Brandnames at cost 4,000 4,000 4,000 4,000

Total Intangible Assets 10,603 10,603 4,000 4,000
               
Intangible assets recognised by the consolidated entity have an indefinite useful life.    

Reconciliations 
There have been no movements in the carrying value of Goodwill, Export Quotas or Brandnames during the current or prior financial 
years in the consolidated entity or the company.        

Goodwill, export quotas and brandnames have been allocated for impairment testing purposes to the Dairy Produce cash generating 
unit. In considering impairment, management have considered relevant forecasted cash flow projections. 

Note 16  Payables

  Consolidated Company

Note
2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Current

Trade payables 92,110 87,231 69,568 58,241 

Payable to suppliers 70,599 203,760 70,599 203,760 

Sundry payables and accrued expenses 42,675 55,721 40,333 49,362 

205,384 346,712 180,500 311,363 

Non Current

Net defined benefit superannuation fund liability 27 5,036 - 5,036 - 

Other 2,478 2,027 1,076 1,275 

7,514 2,027 6,112 1,275 

All payables are recorded at amortised cost. The fair value of payables is documented in Note 30(d).
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Note 17  Borrowings

  Consolidated Company

Note
2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Current

Lease liability 26 636 1,258 636 1,258 

Bank loans 356,485 416,605 356,485 416,605 

Private placement senior notes 44,839 –  44,839 –  

401,960 417,863 401,960 417,863 

Non Current

Lease liability 26 582 1,218 582 1,218 

Bank loans 25,000 –  25,000 –  

Private placement senior notes 103,525 126,712 103,525 126,712 

Domestic note issue 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 

Payable to controlled entities –  –  101,668 123,076 

159,107 157,930 260,775 281,006 
              
The bank loans, private placement senior and domestic notes are covered by negative pledge agreements between the parent entity 
and its financiers. The lease liabilities are effectively secured over the assets leased, the current market value of which exceeds the value 
of the finance lease liability.

All borrowings are recorded at amortised cost. Private placement notes are designated in effective cash flow hedge relationships

The fair value of borrowings is documented in Note 30(d).          

Note 18  Current Tax Payable

Income tax payable  80  –  –  – 

Note 19  Provisions

Current

Dividends 1 9 1 9

Employee benefits 35,110 31,979 33,376 30,302

35,111 31,988 33,377 30,311

Non Current

Employee benefits 8,400 8,298 8,298 8,198

8,400 8,298 8,298 8,198

Note 20  Deferred Tax Liabilities

Deferred tax liability 4 32,933 66,815 34,122 68,415 

Note 21  Contingent Liabilities        
Unsecured guarantees and warranties given in the normal course of business include commitments for the disposal of effluent. 
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Note 22    Issued Capital

  Consolidated Company

Note
2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Issued Capital 230,021 213,666 230,021 213,666
           
Movements in Issued Capital          

Number of Shares

Ordinary 
Shares (a)

A Class  
Preference 
Shares (b)

B Class  
Preference 
Shares (c)

C Class  
Preference 
Shares (d) Total

Balance at 30 June 2007 161,412,643 18,820,106 6,675,428 13,529,710 200,437,887

Shares issued 6,698,274 – – – 6,698,274

Bonus shares issued 16,046,771 – – – 16,046,771

Dividend reinvestment plan issues 852 55,931 362 69 57,214

Transfers (4,171,327) (1,191,978) 1,864,677 3,498,628 – 

Balance at 30 June 2008 179,987,213 17,684,059 8,540,467 17,028,407 223,240,146

Shares issued 13,438,129 – – – 13,438,129

Dividend reinvestment plan issues 2,916,245 – – – 2,916,245

Transfers (3,328,500) (637,202) 2,684,956 1,280,746 – 

Balance at 30 June 2009 193,013,087 17,046,857 11,225,423 18,309,153 239,594,520

Changes to the then Corporations Law abolished the par value concept in relation to share capital from 1 July 1998. Therefore, the 
company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital and issued shares do not have a par value. All shares are fully paid.

a) Ordinary Shares 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the company in proportion to the 
number of shares held. On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one 
vote and upon a poll each share is entitled to one vote. Upon ceasing supply of milk to the company, shareholders’ ordinary shares are 
converted into a class of non cumulative, non redeemable preference shares as determined by the board.

b) A class 8% Non Cumulative Non–redeemable Preference Shares       
A class 8% non cumulative, non redeemable preference shares entitle holders to receive, out of profits available for dividend, a 
preferential dividend at a rate of 8% per annum. These holders have no voting rights at a general meeting of the company but can 
convert their shares into ordinary shares, by resolution of the directors, if any holder becomes a supplier to the company.

c) B class Non Cumulative Non–redeemable Preference Shares       
B class non cumulative, non redeemable preference shares entitle holders to receive, out of profits available for dividend, a preferential 
dividend at a variable rate. These holders have no voting rights at a general meeting of the company but can convert their shares into 
ordinary shares, by resolution of the directors, if any holder becomes a supplier to the company.

d) C class Non Cumulative Non–redeemable Preference Shares       
C class non cumulative, non redeemable preference shares entitle holders to receive, out of profits available for dividend, a preferential 
dividend at a variable rate. These holders have no voting rights at a general meeting of the company but can convert their shares into 
ordinary shares, by resolution of the directors, if any holder becomes a supplier to the company.    
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Note 22    Issued Capital (continued)

Capital Risk Management        
The consolidated entity manages its capital to ensure that entities within the group will be able to continue as a going concern and to 
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital and ensure access to adequate capital to sustain future development.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the consolidated entity may adjust the amount of share equity milk deductions, adjust 
the level of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. Management continually monitor the capital 
structure by reference to the consolidated entity’s gearing ratio. The gearing ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital where 
net debt is borrowings less cash and total capital is equity, including minority interest, plus net debt as shown in the Balance Sheet.  
The consolidated entity’s strategy is to maintain its gearing ratio within 30% to 60%.
     

Consolidated

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Total borrowings 561,067 575,793 

less Cash (8,556) (4,795)

Net Debt 552,511 570,998 

Total equity 727,040 758,524 

Total capital 1,279,551 1,329,522 

Gearing ratio 43.2% 42.9%
           

Note 23  Reserves

  Consolidated Company

Note
2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Capital reserve 36,916 36,916 24,290 24,290

Asset revaluation reserve 103,260 103,489 69,281 69,408

General reserve 5,257 5,257 2,648 2,648

Hedge reserve 12,288 29,283 12,288 29,283

Share allotment reserve 2,564 5,257 2,564 5,257

Foreign currency translation reserve (11) (119) – – 

160,274 180,083 111,071 130,886

Movements in Reserves

Asset Revaluation Reserve

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 103,489 77,784 69,408 44,080

Increment on revaluation of land and buildings 14  – 36,775  – 36,237

Transfer to Retained Earnings 24 (327) (54) (181) (54)

Related income tax 4 98 (11,016) 54 (10,855)

Balance at the end of the financial year 103,260 103,489 69,281 69,408

Hedge Reserve

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 29,283 22,059 29,283 22,059

Transferred to Income Statement (4,360) (10,771) (4,360) (10,771)

Related income tax 4 1,308 3,231 1,308 3,231

Gains / (losses) on cash flow hedges (19,918) 21,091 (19,918) 21,091

Related income tax 4 5,975 (6,327) 5,975 (6,327)

Balance at the end of the financial year 12,288 29,283 12,288 29,283
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  Consolidated Company

Note
2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Share Allotment Reserve

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 5,257 4,949 5,257 4,949

Allotment of shares to suppliers (5,257) (4,949) (5,257) (4,949)

Shares to be issued in lieu of milk payments 2,564 5,257 2,564 5,257

Balance at the end of the financial year 2,564 5,257 2,564 5,257

At 30 June 2009 an amount of $2,564,000 (2008: $5,257,000) was due to suppliers, being deductions made from milk  
payments during the year. This debt was satisfied by the allotment of fully paid shares in September 2009 (September 2008).

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

Balance at the beginning of the financial year (119) (103) – – 

Translation of foreign operations 154 (23) – – 

Related income tax 4 (46) 7 – – 

Balance at the end of the financial year (11) (119) – – 

Nature and Purpose of Reserves          
 
Capital Reserve 
The capital reserve is used to accumulate realised capital profits.   

Asset Revaluation Reserve           
The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non–current assets.

General Reserve           
The general reserve is used from time to time to transfer profits from retained earnings. There is no policy of regular transfer.

Hedge Reserve           
The hedge reserve represents hedging gains and losses recognised on the effective portion of cash flow hedges. The cumulative 
deferred gain or loss on the hedge is recognised in profit or loss when the hedged transaction impacts the profit or loss. 

Share Allotment Reserve 
The share allotment reserve reflects the value of shares to be allotted to suppliers. The allotments arise from deductions made from milk 
payments during the year.          

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve          
The foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences relating to the translation from the functional currencies of the 
Group’s foreign controlled entities into Australian dollars.        
            

Note 24  Retained Earnings

  Consolidated Company

Note
2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 264,961 206,548 268,524 212,992

Net profit attributable to members of the parent entity 794 85,693 215 82,812

Dividends provided for or paid 7 (23,163) (27,334) (23,163) (27,334)

Net transfer from asset revaluation reserve 23 229 54 127 54 

Balance at the end of the financial year 242,821 264,961 245,703 268,524
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Note 25  Minority Interests

Minority interests comprises:

92,743,472 fully paid Employees Profits Participation
Units (2008: 99,037,500) and 5 (2008: 5) fully paid
ordinary shares in MG Employees Equity Ltd 28 92,743 99,038 –  –  

980,000 ordinary shares in Qingdao Murray Goulburn 
Dairy Co., Ltd (2008: 980,000) 928 776 –  –  

49 ordinary shares in Provico Pty Ltd (2008: 51) 253 –  –  –  

93,924 99,814 –  –  
             

Note 26  Capital and Leasing Commitments

  Consolidated Company

Note
2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

a) Minimum future finance lease payments

– Due within 1 year 713 1,407 713 1,407

– Due within 1–5 years 602 1,307 602 1,307

Minimum lease payments 1,315 2,714 1,315 2,714

Less future finance charges (97) (238) (97) (238)

Present value of minimum lease payments 1,218 2,476 1,218 2,476

Classified as:

Current borrowings 17 636 1,258 636 1,258

Non current borrowings 17 582 1,218 582 1,218

1,218 2,476 1,218 2,476
                   
Finance leases relate to motor vehicles with lease terms of two to three years.      

b) Operating Lease Commitments

– Due within 1 year 19,143 3,572 18,872 3,249

– Due within 1–5 years 39,136 10,198 38,499 9,519

– Due longer than 5 years 5,737 8,594 5,684 8,491

64,016 22,364 63,055 21,259

Operating leases relate to Trading stores, warehousing facilities and vehicles with lease terms of between 1 to 31 years.  
Some leases have an option to extend the lease term. The consolidated entity does not have an option to purchase the leased assets at 
the expiry of the lease period.           

c) Capital Expenditure Commitments

Contracted capital expenditure commitments due within one year 61,469 52,953 60,476 50,168 
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Note 27  Defined Benefit Superannuation Plan

The Company participates in a defined benefit superannuation plan, the MGC Superannuation Fund, which has been established and 
sponsored by the parent entity. This plan is a funded plan and provides a lump sum benefit on retirement, death, disablement and 
withdrawal. The defined benefit section of the plan is closed to new members.

Contributions are made by employees and the consolidated entity as percentages of salary. The consolidated entity is obliged to make 
contributions as specified in the rules of the fund.        
The consolidated entity expects to make a contribution of $877,000 (2008: $nil) to the plan during the next financial year.  
The method used to determine the employer contribution recommendations at the last actuarial review was the Target Funding method. 
The method adopted affects the timing of the cost to the consolidated entity.

The consolidated entity has recognised a liability (2008: an asset) in the balance sheet in respect of its defined benefit superannuation 
arrangements. If a surplus exists in the plan, the consolidated entity may be able to take advantage of it in the form of a reduction in the 
required contribution rate, depending on the advice of the plan’s actuary.

The consolidated entity may at any time by notice to the Trustee terminate its contributions. The consolidated entity has a liability to pay 
the contributions due prior to the effective date of the notice, but there is no requirement for the consolidated entity to pay any further 
contributions, irrespective of the financial condition of the plan.       

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Reconciliation of the Fair Value of Plan Assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of the year 30,212 34,876 

Expected return on plan assets 1,930 2,186 

Actuarial gains / (losses) (5,713) (4,922)

Employer contributions 150 918 

Contributions by plan participants 772 1,014 

Benefits paid (1,718) (3,531)

Taxes, premiums and expenses paid (177) (329)

Transfers in 114 – 

Fair value of plan assets at end of the year 25,570 30,212 
 
The fair value of plan assets includes no amounts relating to any of the consolidated entity’s own financial instruments or any 
property occupied by, or other assets used by, the consolidated entity.      

The actual loss on plan assets was $3,783,000 (2008: $2,736,000 loss on plan assets).     
      

Reconciliation of the Present Value of the Defined Benefit Obligation      

Present value of the defined benefit obligations at beginning of the year 27,559 26,715

Current service cost 710 830

Interest cost 1,481 1,385

Contributions by plan participants 772 1,014

Actuarial (gains) / losses 1,865 1,475

Benefits paid (1,718) (3,531)

Taxes, premiums and expenses paid (177) (329)

Transfers in 114 – 

Present value of the defined benefit obligations at end of the year 30,606 27,559 

Net superannuation (liability) / asset included in Other Non Current 

Payables / Assets (5,036) 2,653 

Expense recognised in Income Statement

Service cost 710 830

Interest cost 1,481 1,385

Expected return on assets (1,930) (2,186)

Actuarial loss 7,578 6,397

Superannuation expense 7,839 6,426
           
Superannuation expense is allocated to cost of sales (70%) and administration expenses (30%).    
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Note 27  Defined Benefit Superannuation Plan (continued)

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Historical information

Experience adjustments loss on plan assets 5,713 4,922

Experience adjustments loss on plan liabilities 840 1,828

Principal actuarial assumptions used:

Discount rate 4.8% 5.6%

Expected rate of return on plan assets 6.8% 6.7%

Expected salary increase rate 4.0% 4.0%

The percentage invested in each asset class at the balance date:

Australian equity 33% 32%

International equity 28% 26%

Fixed income 8% 10%

Property 11% 12%

Other 20% 20%
          
In determining the expected rate of return on assets, the actuary has considered the expected future investment returns for each 
major asset class net of investment tax and investment fees.        
             

Note 28  Murray Goulburn Group Employees Profits Participation Scheme     
   
In 1993 Murray Goulburn established an Employees Profits Participation Scheme under which employees of the Murray Goulburn Group 
with 12 months or more work experience with the Murray Goulburn Group could choose to invest in Employees Profits Participation 
Units in MG Employees Equity Limited (“MGEE”). MGEE invests the employees’ contributions in A class participating non–cumulative 
non redeemable preference shares in Murray Goulburn Investment Limited.      

Eligible employees must borrow all monies required to pay for the MGEE Employees Profits Participation Units either from MGEE or  
Murray Goulburn. The maximum amount each employee is entitled to borrow is equivalent to one year’s salary, rounded up to the 
nearest $10,000. MGEE funds the employee loans by borrowing from Murray Goulburn. All borrowings are interest free and employees 
repay their loans at 3% per annum or in full on withdrawal from the scheme. Loans receivable from employees are recorded at amortised 
cost. The adjustment to employee loans has been capitalised as an asset to the extent that it relates to future employee services.

Loans receivable from employees are effectively secured by the Employees Profits Participation Units held by the employees.

At 30th June 2009, 1,734 employees were eligible to participate in the Scheme. Of that number, 1,320 employees had been issued with 
99,743,472 $1.00 Employees Profits Participation Units. During the year ended 30th June 2009, MGEE bought back and cancelled 
6,294,028 Employees Profits Participation Units.

The value of Employees Profits Participation Units issued by MG Employees Equity Limited to employees of the consolidated entity is 
recognised as a Minority Interest. Loans owing by employees are included in other receivables in Note 8 above.   
            

Amounts recognised are as follows:

    Consolidated      Company

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Minority Interest 92,743 99,038 – – 

Employee loans (current and non current) 45,699 48,296 394 433 
           

Note 29  Events Subsequent to Balance Date        

Other than the declaration of dividends detailed in Note 7 ‘Unrecognised Amounts’, no matters or circumstances have arisen since 
the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the consolidated entity, the 
results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the consolidated entity in financial years subsequent to the financial year ended 
30 June 2009.           
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Note 30  Financial Instruments        

 Risk management is carried out by the treasury and finance departments under policies approved by the Board of Directors. Financial  
 risks are managed in accordance with written policies overseen by the board.      
    
 The consolidated entity does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative 
 purposes. The use of financial derivatives is governed by the consolidated entity’s policy approved by the board of directors which 
 provides written principles on the use of financial derivatives. Compliance with policy and exposure limits is reviewed continuously by 
 senior management and by the board of directors on a quarterly basis.      
              

a) Market Risk          
 The consolidated entity’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest 
 rates. The consolidated entity enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and 
 foreign currency risk, including:          
	 •	 Forward	foreign	currency	and	foreign	currency	option	contracts	to	hedge	the	exchange	rate	risk	arising	on	the	sale	of	exported	 
  dairy goods in $US; and 
	 •	 Interest	rate	swaps	to	hedge	the	fair	value	risk	associated	with	fluctuating	interest	rates.	 	 	

 Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement 
 and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of financial instruments are disclosed in Note 1 to the 
 financial statements and below.

 Foreign Currency Risk Management          
 The group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies, hence exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise. 
 Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy parameters utilising forward foreign exchange contracts and foreign 
 exchange options.          

 Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts 
 The consolidated entity maintains a policy of matching anticipated future cash flows in foreign currencies, ie. highly probable sales, 
 for cash flow hedge accounting purposes, with forward exchange contracts in the same currency and with closely corresponding 
 settlement dates.          

 At balance date, the entity has $US120 million (2008: $US250 million) forward exchange contracts outstanding with maturity dates  
 not exceeding one year, of which $US nil (2008: $US10 million) relate to receivables at balance date and $US120 million  
 (2008: $US240 million) to future transactions. The fair value of these contracts at balance date is $3.3 million (2008: $4.6 million).

 Unrealised gains or losses at year end on specific hedges in the form of forward exchange contracts, in respect of unsettled sales 
 transactions, are deferred and recognised in the hedge reserve to match against the underlying hedge transaction. 

 Currency Options 
 During the year the consolidated entity entered into a range of US Dollar currency options with varying maturities and strike rates.  
 By simultaneously purchasing and selling options in barrier type structures, the entity has effectively capped an exchange rate  
 should the AUD strengthen whilst maintaining the flexibility to improve the exchange rate should the AUD trade at more favourable levels.

 At balance date, the entity had bought call options to the value of $US nil (2008: $US30 million) with varying strike rates and sold call 
 options to the value of $US nil (2008: $US60 million). These were taken in conjunction with forward exchange contracts as part of 
 the overall hedging strategy. All currency options have expiry dates not exceeding one year and were purchased or sold strictly as a 
 means of reducing foreign exchange risk associated with hedging future sales denominated in $US. The fair value of these contracts 
 at balance date is $nil (2008: $0.1 million).

 Private Placement Senior Notes 
 The private placement is designated in a cash flow hedge relationship and is hedging highly probable forecast sales denominated in 
 USD to be invoiced at the time of each loan repayment. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of the Private Placement 
 due to foreign currency changes is recognised directly in equity via the Hedge Reserve.

 Foreign Currency Sensitivity 
 The consolidated entity is exposed to US dollars (USD). The following table details the consolidated entity’s and company’s 
 sensitivity to a 1% increase and decrease in the Australian dollar (AUD) against the USD as at balance date. The sensitivity includes 
 outstanding foreign currency derivatives and foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period 
 end for a 1% change in foreign currency rates.         
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Note 30  Financial Instruments (continued)

  Consolidated Company    

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Other Equity AUD strengthens 1% – increase / (decrease) 2,929 2,681 2,929 2,681 

AUD weakens 1% – increase / (decrease) (2,988) (2,735) (2,988) (2,735)

Profit or Loss AUD strengthens 1% – increase / (decrease) 216 14 216 14 

AUD weakens 1% – increase / (decrease) (220) (23) (220) (23)
           
b) Interest Rate Risk          
 Trade and other receivables, trade payables and accruals and loans from the state government of Victoria are non–interest bearing.

 The AUD bank overdraft bears interest at a floating rate based on the targeted cash rate of the Reserve Bank of Australia. The USD 
 bank overdraft bears interest at a floating rate based on the London Interbank Offered Rate. USD cash on hand yields interest at 
 the US Interbank Bid Rate. AUD cash on hand bears interest at a floating rate based on the targeted cash rate of the Reserve Bank 
 of Australia.

 Bank loans consist of short term and long term USD and AUD revolving loan facilities, on which interest is payable at floating rates. 
 Rates on US Dollar loans are based on either LIBOR. Rates on AUD loans are based on the 30 day bank bill swap rate.

 Interest on floating AUD domestic notes is based on the three month BBSW rate. Fixed AUD domestic notes bear interest at 6.82%.

 Finance lease liabilities arise from the leasing of vehicles. Leases are negotiated for a 3–year term at a fixed rate of interest. Interest 
 rates are based on the market rate ruling at the time of entering into the individual lease agreements.

 The Private Placement bears interest at a fixed rate of 4.98%. The Private Placement will be repaid as follows: $US36.0 million 
 (18 October 2009), $US30.0 million (18 October 2010), $US24.0 million (18 October 2011), $US18.0 million (18 October 2012)  
 and $US12.0 million (18 October 2013).

 The company entered into an interest rate swap for a notional amount of $US120.0 million to manage the fair value risk associated 
 with this facility. It has effectively swapped its fixed interest rate exposure of 4.98% for a variable interest rate, based on a 6 month 
 LIBOR rate, through to 2009. The fair value of the interest rate swap at 30 June 2009 is $2.1 million unrealised gain (2008: $2.1 
 million unrealised gain). The interest rate swap was de–designated from its fair value hedge relationship with the Private Placement in 
 July 2008 with the resulting adjustment to the Private Placement being amortised to the profit and loss over the remaining period of 
 the swap.

 An analysis of borrowings by maturities is provided in paragraph (e) below.

 Interest Rate Sensitivity 
 The consolidated entity’s and company’s sensitivity to a 50 basis point increase or decrease, representing management’s assessment 
 of the possible change in interest rates, holding all other variables constant would be a decrease / increase in net profit of $1,391,000 
 (2008: $1,999,000 decrease / increase) for the consolidated entity and $1,747,000 for the company (2008: $2,430,000 decrease/increase). 
         

c) Credit Risk Exposures          
 The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date in relation to financial assets is the carrying amount, net of any allowances,  
 of those assets as indicated in the balance sheet. The consolidated entity and company has adopted a policy of dealing with 
 creditworthy counterparties assessed by reference to their financial position, internal and external credit assessment and historical 
 trading experience. Concentrations of credit risk is minimised by undertaking transactions with a large number of customers and 
 counterparties in various countries. Credit insurance is purchased to reduce credit risk associated with the majority of export 
 customers. Other receivables current include amounts receivable from suppliers, from an associate disclosed in Note 31(b) and from 
 GST paid.

 Other receivables non current represent loans to employees and are effectively secured by employees’ minority interest.

d) Fair Value           
 The fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities, excluding derivative instruments, are determined in accordance with 
 generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current market transactions.  
 The fair value of derivative instruments are calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices are not available use is made of  
 discounted cash flow analysis using the appplicable yield curve for the duration of the instruments for non–optional derivatives,  
 and option pricing models for optional derivatives.

 The carrying amount recorded in the financial statements represents the fair value of all assets and liabilities, determined in 
 accordance with the accounting policies in Note 1 to the financial statements, except for those mentioned below. The fair value is 
 derived by discounting the expected future cash flows by the current interest rates for assets and liabilities with similar risk profiles.

 The fair value of non current Other Receivables at balance date is $43.9 million (2008: $44.6 million).    
 The fair value of the Private Placement at balance date is $120.4 million (2008: $118.5 million). 
 The fair value of the Domestic Note Issue at balance date is $30.3 million (2008: $28.3 million).    
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e) Liquidity Risk Management
 Liquidity risk is managed by maintaining adequate borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows 
 and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. Included in Note 32(c) is a listing of additional undrawn facilities 
 that are available to reduce liquidity risk.

 The following tables analyse the consolidated entity’s and company’s non–derivative financial liabilities. The amounts disclosed in the 
 tables are the contractual undiscounted cash flows:        
  

0–12 months
$000

1–2 years
$000

2–5 years
$000 

5+ years
$000

(i)
On Demand

$000

Total
contractual
cash flows

$000

Carrying
amount

$000

at 30 June 2009

Non Interest bearing 205,384 – – 1,000 – 206,384 206,384

Variable rate 361,359 25,866 16,110 – – 403,335 397,485

Fixed rate 51,928 42,458 84,408 – – 178,794 163,582

Consolidated 618,671 68,324 100,518 1,000 – 788,513 767,451

Non Interest bearing 180,500 – – 1,000 – 181,500 181,500

Variable rate 361,359 25,866 16,110 – 101,668 505,003 499,153

Fixed rate 51,928 42,458 84,408 – – 178,794 163,582

Company 593,787 68,324 100,518 1,000 101,668 865,297 844,235

at 30 June 2008

Non Interest bearing 346,712 – – 1,000 – 347,712 347,712

Variable rate 424,107 1,336 17,578 – – 443,021 432,605

Fixed rate 8,570 44,628 96,119 12,673 – 161,990 143,188

Consolidated 779,389 45,964 113,697 13,673 – 952,723 923,505

Non Interest bearing 311,363 – – 1,000 – 312,363 312,363

Variable rate 424,107 1,336 17,578 – 123,076 566,097 555,681

Fixed rate 8,570 44,628 96,119 12,673 – 161,990 143,188

Company 744,040 45,964 113,697 13,673 123,076 1,040,450 1,011,232

(i) Intercompany loans with a carrying value of $101,668,000 (2008: $123,076,000) are subject to a stream of cash flows and are 
classified as on demand as there is no formal maturity date.

The gross undiscounted cash outflows of the consolidated entity’s and company’s derivative financial instruments due for settlement 
within 12 months are, in relation to: 
 Forward Exchange Contracts: $152.3 million (2008: $267.1 million)       
 Foreign Currency Options $nil (2008: $66.7 million)        
            



66

Note 31  Related Parties

  Consolidated Company

Note
2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions unless otherwise stated. 

Balances and transactions with related parties :

a) In the consolidated entity

Interest received from controlled entities on interco loan balances 2 – – 431 726 

Interest paid to controlled entities on intercompany loan balances 3 – – 525 12,251 

Purchase of goods from Murray Goulburn Trading Pty Ltd – – 215 223 

Sale of finished product to Murray Goulburn Trading Pty Ltd – – 1,424 1,142 

Sale of finished product to Qingdao – – 2,637 1,227 

Rent received from Murray Goulburn Trading Pty Ltd – – 975 646 

Service fees and management fees charged to controlled
entities for general administration duties 2 – – 6,633 6,485 

Interest free loan to MG Employees Equity Ltd – – 45,486 47,863 

Amounts receivable from controlled entities arising through the 
intercompany accounts – – 10,207 11,534 

Amounts payable to controlled entities arising through the 
intercompany accounts – – 101,668 123,076 

b) Associated companies

Receivable from MG Agrilink Unit Trust – – 2,924 12,891 
          
Transactions between the parent entity and its associates include the sale of goods, the purchase of goods and the provision of 
technical and consultancy services by the parent entity. Transactions are on normal commercial terms and conditions.

c) Directors of the parent entity

   Shareholdings of directors in the parent entity, allotted to them in their capacity as suppliers of milk to the company: 

Shares held at
1 July 2007

Ordinary
No.

Acquired

Ordinary
No.

Shares held at 
30 June 2008 

Ordinary
No.

Shares held at
1 July 2008

Ordinary
No.

Acquired

Ordinary
No.

Shares held at
30 June 2009

Ordinary
No.

IW MacAulay 175,003 34,503 209,506 209,506 37,169 246,675 

GJ Davies 200,025 38,338 238,363 238,363 93,983 332,346 

DF Howard 257,627 33,572 291,199 291,199 38,253 329,452 

WM Brown 162,247 24,457 186,704 186,704 87,068 273,772 

LA Jarvis OAM (i) 371,693 43,900 415,593 – – – 

KW Jones (ii) – – – 88,274 4,667 92,941 

WH Miles (i) 186,542 39,847 226,389 – – – 

GN Munzel (ii) – – – 143,199 5,205 148,404 

ST Mills 92,124 21,196 113,320 113,320 109,593 222,913 

JP Pye 106,807 23,173 129,980 129,980 20,165 150,145 

JT Vardy 304,471 93,143 397,614 397,614 229,840 627,454 

WJA Verboon 99,415 22,115 121,530 121,530 52,630 174,160 

1,955,954 374,244 2,330,198 1,919,689 678,573 2,598,262 

(i) LA Jarvis OAM and WH Miles resigned from the office of director during the current financial year and accordingly their shareholdings 
at 30 June 2009 are not disclosed.

(ii) KW Jones and GN Munzel were appointed to the office of director during the current financial year and accordingly their 
shareholdings prior to 1 July 2008 are not disclosed.       

Directors of the parent company supply milk to the consolidated entity, are able to purchase goods at Murray Goulburn Trading Pty Ltd 
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stores at commercial prices and can obtain loans from the consolidated entity in the same manner as all other suppliers.

Aggregate of loans to 6 (2008: 7) directors as at financial year end: $486,118 (2008: $247,843).    
Total interest paid by directors: $13,177 (2008: $7,205).

During the year, loans exceeding $100,000 were made to the following directors under the same terms and conditions available to all 
member suppliers for the purchase of fodder and other financing activities:      
GJ Davies: total loan at financial year end: $290,030 (2008: $45,000); peak loan balance during the year: $377,000; interest paid $11,850  
WH Miles: total loan at financial year end: $nil (2008: $24,000); peak loan balance during the year $120,000; interest paid $nil  
        

d) Key Management Personnel          
 Key management personnel of the consolidated entity participate in the Employees Profits Participation Scheme under the same 
 terms and conditions available to all employees (refer Note 28). All loans are interest free and repayable at 3.0% per annum. 
 Key management personnel hold the following number of Employees Profits Participation Units in MG Employees Equity Limited: 
 

Shares held
1 July 2007

No.

 Net Other
 Change

 No.

Shares held
30 June 2008

No.

Shares held
1 July 2008

No.

 Net Other
 Change

 No.

Shares held
30 June 2009

No.

SJ O’Rourke 1,816,108 284,569 2,100,677 2,100,677 110,000 2,210,677 

P Kerr 568,576 59,178 627,754 627,754 20,000 647,754 

N Longstaff 361,883 41,610 403,493 403,493 – 403,493 

P Hobman 304,845 36,761 341,606 341,606 10,000 351,606 

M Beniston – 260,400 260,400 260,400 – 260,400 

D Moffat 232,100 19,728 251,828 251,828 20,000 271,828 
          

Interest free loans to key management personnel, the terms of which are disclosed in Note 28, via the Employees Profits 
Participation Scheme:          

Balance at 
1 July 2007

$

Balance at 
30 June 2008

$

Balance at 
30 June 2009

$

Highest 
in Period

2008
$

Highest 
in Period

2009
$

Notional 
Interest

2008
$

Notional 
Interest

2009
$

SJ O’Rourke 941,025 1,025,625 1,096,650 1,028,850 1,100,150 49,166 53,057 

P Kerr 297,850 297,275 305,825 298,225 306,825 14,878 15,078 

N Longstaff 221,325 223,500 215,400 224,175 216,075 11,121 10,973 

P Hobman 228,725 231,200 233,375 231,850 234,050 11,498 11,614 

M Beniston – 239,400 232,200 240,000 232,800 658 11,790 

D Moffat 173,675 167,975 182,225 173,675 182,750 8,541 8,755 
           
Notional interest is included in non monetary compensation of key management personnel.     
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Note 32    Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows        

  Consolidated Company

Note 2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

           
a) Reconciliation of Cash          
 For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand, deposits on call and investments in money market 
 instruments, net of bank overdrafts.

 Cash at the end of the year as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to cash in the balance sheet as follows:  

Cash per balance sheet 8,556 4,795 1,373 22

Cash per statement of cash flows 8,556 4,795 1,373 22

b) Reconciliation of Profit for the Period to Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Profit for the Period 1,050 93,183 215 82,812

Depreciation 62,924 61,713 60,873 59,853

Amortisation 495 530 494 529

Property revaluations decrements through the income statement  – 512  – 512

(Gain) Loss on disposal of fixed assets (44,202) 644 (44,219) 637

Share of (profit) loss of associated company (103) (419) – – 

Write down of investments in subsidiaries – –  11 – 

Loss from defined benefit superannuation fund 7,839 6,426 7,839 6,426

Change in operating assets and liabilities

Decrease (increase) in trade receivables 141,030 (106,323) 144,336 (106,895)

Decrease (increase) in other receivables and prepayments (21,284) (13,962) (7,594) (1,173)

Decrease (increase) in inventories 118,948 (195,054) 116,713 (190,376)

Increase (decrease) in trade payables and amounts due to suppliers (147,309) 139,116 (137,649) 131,379

Increase (decrease) in amounts payable to controlled entities – – (26,206) 571

Increase (decrease) in provisions 3,827 1,737 3,611 1,428

Increase (decrease) in deferred tax liability (26,644) 4,499 (27,009) 5,889

Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities 96,571 (7,398) 91,415 (8,408)

c) Financing Arrangements

Credit facility 561,841 550,176 561,841 550,176

Amount utilised 373,929 412,810 381,112 417,583

Unused credit facility 187,912 137,366 180,729 132,593

The major facilities consist of a bank overdraft facility repayable at call, and loan facilities which are subject to yearly review to 
ensure that the required financial ratios are met. 

d) Non–cash Financing and Investing Activities 

During the financial year the consolidated entity acquired plant and motor vehicles with an aggregate fair value of nil (2008: 
$1,162,000) by means of finance leases. These acquisitions are not reflected in the statement of cash flows or Note 32(b).
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Note 33 Business Combinations        

In respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2009         
 On 21 December 2008, the parent entity increased its shareholding in Provico Pty Ltd to 51% (2008: 49%) for consideration of  
 $21,500. As at 30 June 2009, Provico Pty Ltd has net assets of $658,000 and annual revenue of $4,783,000.   

Note 34: Additional Information        

Murray Goulburn Co–operative Co. Limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 
Its registered office and principal place of business is:        
 Murray Goulburn Co–operative Co. Limited        
 140 Dawson Street        
 Brunswick, Victoria, 3056        
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Directors’ Declaration

In the directors’ opinion:

a) There are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable;

b) The attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with 
 accounting standards; and

c) The attached financial statements and notes thereto give a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial 
 position as at 30 June 2009 and performance for the financial year ended on that date.

At the date of this declaration, the company is within the class of companies affected by ASIC Class Order 98/1418. The nature of the 
deed of cross guarantee is such that each company which is party to the deed guarantees to each creditor payment in full of any debt 
in accordance with the deed of cross guarantee.

In the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company and the companies to which the ASIC Class Order 
applies, as detailed in Note 12 to the financial statements will, as a group, be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are, 
or may become, subject by virtue of the deed of cross guarantee.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

IW MacAulay 
Director

Melbourne 
23 September 2009
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Report on the Financial Report 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Murray Goulburn Co-operative Co. Limited (the company), which comprises the 
balance sheet as at 30 June 2009, and the income statement, cash flow statement and statement of recognised income and expense 
for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration of 
the consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end as set out on pages 34 to 70. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility 
includes establishing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making 
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. In Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting 
Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that compliance with the Australian equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards ensures that the consolidated financial statements and notes, comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit 
engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material 
misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Auditor’s Opinion

In our opinion:

(a) the financial report of Murray Goulburn Co-operative Co. Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 
 (i) giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2009 and of their  
  performance for the year ended on that date; and 
 (ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the  
  Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note1.

Report on the Remuneration Report  
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 32 to 33 of the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2009.  
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with 
section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

Auditor’s Opinion
In our opinion the Remuneration Report of Murray Goulburn Co-operative Co. Limited for the year ended 30 June 2009, complies with 
section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

T Imbesi 
Partner 
Chartered Accountants 
Melbourne, 23 September 2009

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of Murray Goulburn Co-Operative Co. Ltd
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The Board of Directors 
Murray Goulburn Co-operative Co. Limited 
140 Dawson Street 
BRUNSWICK VIC 3056

23 September 2009

Dear Board Members

Murray Goulburn Co-operative Co. Limited

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following declaration of independence to 
the directors of Murray Goulburn Co-operative Co. Limited.

As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements of Murray Goulburn Co-operative Co. Limited for the financial year ended 
30 June 2009, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:

(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

Yours sincerely

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

T Imbesi 
Partner  
Chartered Accountants

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Audit Independence Declaration
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Co-Operative - A way of life...
Co-Operation is more than a business, it is a way of life.Carried to its ultimate conclusion, Co-Operation can bring  to the world; peace, prosperity and contentment.But individuals must play their part in the plan.Co-Operation is based on service.  

Each for all and all for each.


